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          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: I call the

          3  Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice Services to

          4  order. Good afternoon. I am Larry Warden, Chairman

          5  of the Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice

          6  Services, and this is an oversight hearing on

          7  minority recruitment and hiring practices in the New

          8  York City Fire Department.

          9                 Recent media reports have focused on

         10  the significant lack of diversity within the New

         11  York City Fire Department. Indeed, the Fire

         12  Department is made up of three percent

         13  African-American firefighters, 2.8 percent Latino

         14  firefighters and less than 0.2 percent of Asian

         15  firefighters. It is the least diverse of all of the

         16  New York City agencies and the least diverse Fire

         17  Department in any major City within the United

         18  States.

         19                 In addition, the Department employs a

         20  total of only 37 women firefighters.

         21                 In recent years the Department has

         22  recognized the lack of minorities, and of course

         23  this is the first and most important step in

         24  remedying the situation. Prior to the last written

         25  firefighter exam in February of 1999, the Department
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          2  intensified its minority recruitment efforts.

          3  Several programs and strategies, which will be

          4  discussed during this hearing, were implemented by

          5  the Department in an effort to increase minority

          6  participation in the exam process.

          7                 Nevertheless, improvement in

          8  diversity has been very slow in coming. Despite the

          9  Department's efforts, only ten percent of those who

         10  sat for their February exam were black and only 12

         11  percent were Latino. In fact, the number of black

         12  firefighters is actually decreased. There are

         13  approximately 344 black firefighters today compared

         14  with a high of 615 in the late 1970s.

         15                 The purpose of this hearing, and I

         16  want to emphasize this, is not to chastise the Fire

         17  Department of its lack of minority firefighters,

         18  rather it is the hope that this hearing will help to

         19  identify the Department recruiting policies which

         20  have been successful in increasing minority numbers

         21  and those which have not, so that the Department is

         22  able to allocate its resources vis-a-vis recruitment

         23  accordingly.

         24                 I believe that the ultimate goal is

         25  the Fire Department that reflects the diversity of
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          2  the City that it protects.

          3                 I am joined today by, on my left,

          4  extreme left, Council Member Oddo, Council Member

          5  Provenzano, Council Member Robles, and on my right,

          6  Council Member Rodriguez.

          7                 The first panel is the Commissioner.

          8  Will you introduce yourself and your team?

          9                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Hi, Mr.

         10  Chairman. Hello, everybody.

         11                 My name is Tom Von Essen, I am the

         12  New York City Fire Commissioner. Here with me today

         13  is Deputy Commissioner Lynn Tierney, who runs the

         14  Fire Department Intergovernmental and Public

         15  Outreach Programs, and Lieutenant Sheldon Wright,

         16  the Director of Employment Initiatives.

         17                 I welcome the opportunity to speak to

         18  you today about our minority recruitment efforts. As

         19  you know, the City administered a firefighter test,

         20  the first test since 1992, in February of this year.

         21  What I plan to do is to recap recruitment efforts,

         22  leading up to the test. Much of this information was

         23  shared at a hearing last year with the Civil Service

         24  and Labor Committee, but in order to demonstrate the

         25  scope of activity, I think it is important to review

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  our full effort. I will then update you as much as I

          3  can on what the results of the written test show.

          4  The story remains unfinished because the physical

          5  test has not been given, so we still don't know the

          6  final outcome of our efforts.

          7                 Before I begin I would like to state

          8  that as it is, hiring at the New York City Fire

          9  Department is a fair and competitive process. The

         10  way to get a job in the Fire Department is to score

         11  high on the written test, and to score at the top of

         12  the physical test. If you do that, and can pass the

         13  medical, psychological and background checks you

         14  will get this job.

         15                 Also understand that before you start

         16  comparing this job to other civil service positions

         17  in this City, the universe is very different.

         18                 Traditionally we fill only about 500

         19  positions a year, not thousands. Over the life of

         20  the list that can be six or seven years, we may hire

         21  only 3,000 people.

         22                 In the past we have scheduled tests

         23  every four or five years to keep up with the need to

         24  fill our positions. It is feasible that you could

         25  have taken the last test in '92 and are just being
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          2  called now. We are making an effort to change this

          3  timetable, but I will talk about that later.

          4                 People wait on this list to be

          5  firefighters for years and years. Some decline when

          6  we call them but not many. Most leave other

          7  well-established careers, in the Police Department,

          8  other City agencies and private industry and come to

          9  the Fire Department.

         10                 The other side of that is that people

         11  rarely leave this job before they absolutely have

         12  to. We have firefighters out in the field who are in

         13  their 31st year. That is why we have so few openings

         14  compared to our agency.

         15                 Having said that, the mission of our

         16  recruitment staff is to raise the job of firefighter

         17  on the screen of many people who never thought of

         18  being a firefighter. It is not a job that

         19  immediately surfaces as a desirable career, unless

         20  you know and grew up with someone who has had it.

         21  Many of the minority firefighters who now serve

         22  throughout the Department come from firefighting

         23  families or were introduced to the job by a minority

         24  recruiter who spent time with them. Unless you see

         25  firsthand that this profession has tremendous
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          2  rewards and you see how members balance the risks

          3  with the rewards, it isn't easy to grasp why you

          4  would want such a physically demanding, dangerous

          5  job.

          6                 If you have the luxury of seeing your

          7  father, mother or uncle or cousin raise a family,

          8  buy a house, provide school tuition and also tell

          9  harrowing stories full of danger and humor around

         10  the table it is different. Maybe then you can life

         11  with the idea that running into a burning building

         12  that others are running out of makes sense.

         13                 Once you attend the family days and

         14  picnics with the whole fire company, get to see the

         15  fire equipment firsthand and grow comfortable with

         16  the idea, you can get past the fear and the

         17  trepidation.

         18                 People who don't grow up with this

         19  have a definite disadvantage in terms of familiarity

         20  with what to expect. Our recruiters in meeting after

         21  meeting contrived ways to communicate those

         22  mysteries to their recruits. They needed to be that

         23  cousin, uncle or aunt. They needed to put that fire

         24  in the belly that others already have. You can't

         25  just put an ad on TV or a sign on the subway and
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          2  convince people it is okay to run into a fire.

          3                 It takes personal hands-on mentoring

          4  and dialogue. That has been the basis of our effort.

          5  It continues now as we try to prepare candidates to

          6  take the physical. We think we are on the road to

          7  making change occur.

          8                 I would like to go back and walk you

          9  through some of the steps that have led up to where

         10  we are and tell you where we plan to go from here.

         11                 It is important to understand that

         12  the efforts of the Fire Department and the City to

         13  address diversity within the Department did not

         14  start with television commercials just prior to a

         15  test.

         16                 Several years ago, Commissioner

         17  Safir, who was then Fire Commissioner at the time,

         18  along with senior members of the Department went to

         19  the Mayor and attempted to get a residency credit

         20  for the Fire Department exam that had already been

         21  given. The effort was successful and the first

         22  residency credit was added.

         23                 Critics have argued that the first

         24  residency was not long enough. However this has been

         25  addressed in this most recent test. This time
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          2  applicants must prove residency for a period of at

          3  least one year beginning August 1, 1999 through

          4  August 1st, 2000. We believe it is a much more

          5  stringent requirement that will be harder for the

          6  applicant to prove but easier for the Department to

          7  verify.

          8                 Another major change forged by this

          9  Administration has been the institution of the first

         10  ever Fire Cadet Program. The cadets were City

         11  residents, attending a city college, they had to

         12  have at least 30 college credits and were recruited

         13  over a ten-month period.

         14                 The first classes started in

         15  September of '96, began as almost 70 percent

         16  minority, and graduated at roughly 60 percent

         17  minority. These cadets became EMTs in the Bureau of

         18  EMS. The second class had roughly the same ethnic

         19  breakdown.

         20                 The Cadet Program was linked to EMS

         21  because at the time the cadets were established, the

         22  Department got the okay to run a promotional test

         23  for EMTs and paramedics who could successfully meet

         24  the requirements to become a firefighter.

         25                 The EMS ranks are traditionally very
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          2  diverse and we firmly believe that making these

          3  positions eligible for promotion will help us to

          4  attract qualified candidates into the ranks of

          5  firefighter.

          6                 These first three steps, residency,

          7  the cadets and a promotional exam are significant

          8  institutional changes that should help us attract a

          9  greater number of qualified minorities.

         10                 With regard to the timetable for the

         11  test, as a result of the discussions with the Mayor

         12  and DCAS, we will be moving forward towards a more

         13  frequent test. We think the time period between

         14  tests is too long. We believe we should give a

         15  promotional test every year, and at the same time

         16  have an open competitive test every two years. This

         17  will give successful candidates a reasonable time

         18  period to wait on the list, instead of having to

         19  linger as long as seven years.

         20                 It is certainly a challenge for the

         21  recruiters to try and encourage young people to take

         22  the test that is given every four to six years for a

         23  job they may have to wait five years to get.

         24                 In addition to moving forward a test

         25  every two years, we will be putting in a new cadet
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          2  class of 100 in January. These cadets will work in

          3  our Bureau of Fire Safety Education upon completion

          4  of their training. They, too, will be eligible to

          5  take the next firefighter promotional test. This

          6  class is being recruited from our database in our

          7  ongoing recruitment efforts.

          8                 These cadets, in addition to serving

          9  as fire safety educators will be recruiters, role

         10  models and ambassadors for the Department. It is a

         11  way for us to directly demonstrate the idea that

         12  there is a career path into the Department.

         13                 Specifically with regard to the test

         14  we gave in February, as of the close of the filing

         15  period, DCAS reported that we had received 22,821

         16  applications for firefighter exam number 7029.

         17                 An initial run of statistics

         18  indicated that close to 25 percent of those who

         19  filed were minority candidates. This is a major

         20  increase in the percentage of minority fires over

         21  the exam given in 1992.

         22                 The actual number of minority

         23  candidates was just over 5,500, out of a total of

         24  22,821. During the last filing period, 40,000

         25  applicants filed with 7,500 minorities filing or
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          2  close to 19 percent.

          3                 This means that minorities and women

          4  who applied for this test, made up a significantly

          5  larger percentage of the pool of applicants than in

          6  1992.

          7                 In addition, we believe that through

          8  our targeted recruitment campaign, we identify

          9  candidates who had a higher likelihood of passing

         10  both portions of the exam because we targeted

         11  college students and athletes.

         12                 As to why the total number of

         13  applicants went from almost 40,000 to 20,000, we

         14  find ourselves asking some of the same questions as

         15  many other agencies and services.

         16                 The economy seems to be the biggest

         17  factor with people having so many other options.

         18                 Recently some members of the Armed

         19  Services Committee announced they were going to

         20  explore reinstituting the draft, because their

         21  recruitment is so far off.

         22                 The army recently announced they were

         23  planning to revise their Be All That You Can Be ad

         24  campaign because in this economy there is less

         25  interest in a service career and they aren't
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          2  attracting enough candidates. In fact, today they

          3  announced if you join by Friday, you will receive a

          4  $6,000 bonus. This is being done because this is one

          5  of their worse recruitment years ever.

          6                 The other factor we think has

          7  impacted us is that we instituted college

          8  requirements for the first time. The Fire Department

          9  instituted a requirement of 30 college credits and

         10  CFRD certification to be appointed to the rank of

         11  firefighter. This requirement is less than the 60

         12  required by Police an Corrections, but we also have

         13  the medical certification requirement. We felt that

         14  this was necessary due to the increased job

         15  responsibility of firefighters today, haz-mat

         16  events, possible chemical and biological terrorism

         17  threats and the institution of an emergency medical

         18  response role for firefighters.

         19                 Most successful applicants will have

         20  approximately four years to achieve this

         21  requirement, from the time they apply to the time

         22  they are appointed.

         23                 In addition, we have begun

         24  instituting educational requirements for promotion

         25  for the first time. The educational thrust is job
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          2  wide and not just directed at new recruits.

          3                 We firmly believe our aggressive

          4  campaign to recruit minorities and diversify the

          5  Department has had an impact on the applications

          6  filed.

          7                 However, we'll see definitively how

          8  our efforts pay off after the applicants have taken

          9  both the written and physical test.

         10                 This is why we intend to continue our

         11  mentoring, monitoring and tutorial programs.

         12                 Although the Department began its

         13  initial recruitment effort just after the last

         14  firefighter examination, we began actively

         15  recruiting for firefighter exam 7029 about three and

         16  a half years ago. A hand-picked team of recruiters

         17  who were born, raised and live in the targeted

         18  communities was assembled and the staff developed a

         19  recruitment strategy.

         20                 This early effort involved

         21  contacting, visiting and distributing flyers to

         22  community leaders and organizations. Local college

         23  campuses, high schools, community organizations and

         24  neighborhood athletic organizations, including YM

         25  and YWCAs.
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          2                 In addition, and for the first time

          3  in the Department's history, we successfully

          4  implemented a Cadet Corps Program.

          5                 As I mentioned earlier, we are able

          6  to train many motivated, college educated

          7  firefighter candidates and provide them with

          8  practical work experience as members of the

          9  Emergency Medical Service.

         10                 These cadets have taken the written

         11  portion of the firefighter exam and will be called

         12  in the end of November, along with other qualified

         13  candidates from the ranks of EMS to take the

         14  physical. A total of 300 EMTs and paramedics who are

         15  qualified and interested in becoming firefighters

         16  took the promotional examination.

         17                 The following major recruitment

         18  initiatives were undertaken for the first time by

         19  the Fire Department as part of their minority

         20  recruitment effort.

         21                 Many of these efforts grew out of

         22  suggestions received from members of the fraternal

         23  organizations of the Fire Department.

         24                 1) We established a recruitment hot

         25  line 999-FDNY, and telephone bank.
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          2                 - We distributed over 150,000

          3  recruitment postcards.

          4                 - Mailed recruitment postcards and

          5  invitations to our Recruitment Fairs to over 11,500

          6  candidates on our database.

          7                 - Created a targeted, professional

          8  advertising campaign aimed at women and minorities

          9  18-24 years of age, specifically targeting

         10  applicants who have the capability of passing the

         11  test, such as student athletes, gym members,

         12  military personnel, and women in non-traditional

         13  jobs.

         14                 This ad campaign:

         15                 - Produced separate television, radio

         16  and newspaper ads.

         17                 - Placed ads on 170 subway stations

         18  and 1,140 subway cars.

         19                 - Bough 190 60-second Spanish and

         20  English radio spots on urban contemporary, and

         21  ethnic stations, such as, MEGA 97.7, WKTU 103.5,

         22  WQHT Hot 97, WXRK Z-100, WBLS 107.5 and WLIB 1190

         23  AM.

         24                 - Purchased 243 30-second television

         25  commercials on Bronx TV, 216 commercials on New York
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          2  1, 24 commercials on Spanish television stations,

          3  Telemundo and Univision.

          4                 - We ran newspaper ads targeting male

          5  and female candidates in the Daily News, the Post,

          6  the Amsterdam News, El Diario, College Press, and

          7  Neighborhood publications.

          8                 - Distributed 6,000 male and female

          9  posters with tear-off sheets of our special

         10  recruitment telephone number.

         11                 When you consider this effort has

         12  been ongoing for at least three and a half years,

         13  the cost of this overall campaign is in the millions

         14  of dollars. The recruitment staff has eight

         15  full-time recruiters and is supplemented regularly

         16  by members from the field.

         17                 In order to support the recruitment

         18  and tutorial campaigns, several laptop computers and

         19  projectors were purchased. In addition to the

         20  $250,000 spent directly on media and production for

         21  the Ad campaign, hundreds of thousands of flyers and

         22  brochures have been produced and distributed.

         23                 These costs are ongoing and not

         24  solely associated with the efforts directed right at

         25  the test period.
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          2                 In addition to the unprecedented

          3  effort made to market the firefighter examination,

          4  this Department made the application much more

          5  accessible to the public.

          6                 We were the first Department to place

          7  the Notice of Examination and Application on the

          8  City's web site. We supplemented the 40,000

          9  applications that DCAS made available, with 150,000

         10  additional copies that we made and distributed with

         11  the help of our City's local libraries, community

         12  boards and delivered 100 applications to every City

         13  Council member for distribution to their

         14  constituents.

         15                 In addition to the day-to-day effort

         16  by the Office of Employment Initiatives and its

         17  Recruitment Unit, the Department with the help of

         18  additional staff assigned from the field undertook

         19  special projects. They included:

         20                 - Personal appeals by myself and my

         21  senior staff at large local congregations such as

         22  Abyssinian Baptist Church, Allen AME, and church

         23  ministry conferences.

         24                 - Recruitment days at churches, youth

         25  days and special events in the heart of ethnic

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            20

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  neighborhoods.

          3                 - Personal calls by the Department's

          4  Women Firefighter Association to over 2,000 female

          5  candidates. In addition, a special ad was placed in

          6  the Female Firefighters' National Association

          7  newsletter.

          8                 - Two recruitment/career fairs held

          9  at our FDNY headquarters to answer questions about

         10  the recruitment process, discuss training

         11  techniques, and give candidates a chance to meet

         12  members of the fraternal organizations.

         13                 - Special recruitment announcements

         14  were made at New York Liberty games.

         15                 - Department staff participated in

         16  talk shows, on-air interviews, career panels and

         17  life radio broadcasts.

         18                 - With the help of the Police

         19  Department's Housing Bureau, we attended Housing

         20  Development Tenant Council meetings to appeal for

         21  help recruiting possible candidates.

         22                 - As a registered member of the

         23  Office of the Assistant Secretary of Defense's

         24  Outplacement Referral System, we were able to reach

         25  transitioning service members all over the world.
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          2                 - A special effort was made using

          3  Department personnel with ties to the Public

          4  Schools, Catholic High Schools' Athletic

          5  Association, the City University Athletic Conference

          6  and local NCAA Athletic teams.

          7                 These efforts were the first step in

          8  a process. We then focused on a tutorial program

          9  aimed at preparing candidates to do well on the

         10  written portion of the test.

         11                 All applicants were invited to

         12  participate in a tutorial program. The content of

         13  the tutorial is purely a test prep course. It

         14  focuses on reading comprehension and successful

         15  test-taking. Power Point presentations were given

         16  and take-home materials were provided.

         17                 In addition to a general mailing to

         18  all candidates, contacts were made through the

         19  fraternal organizations with minority candidates we

         20  identified through our recruitment efforts.

         21                 We secured space for the tutorial in

         22  each borough. Sessions were held at Murray Bergtraum

         23  High School in Manhattan, at Bronx Community

         24  College, Allen AME Church in Queens, at Fire

         25  Headquarters in Brooklyn and New Dorp High School in
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          2  Staten Island. All locations were chosen because

          3  they served target populations and were easily

          4  accessible by public transportation.

          5                 Sessions were held two nights a week

          6  at each location for five weeks. Make-up sessions

          7  were held on Saturdays at Fire Department

          8  Headquarters in Brooklyn. Tutorial sessions were

          9  attended by 2,700 people each week for five weeks.

         10  Most of the instructors in the tutorial program were

         11  members of the recruitment staff and fraternal

         12  organizations who also had some teaching capability.

         13  We prepared a train the trainer course and every

         14  instructor was required to attend.

         15                 Our motivation in utilizing members

         16  of fraternal organizations, as well as our

         17  recruitment staff as trainers, was to allow us to

         18  use the sessions for mentoring and information

         19  dissemination, as well as training for the written

         20  exam.

         21                 The results of the written exam were

         22  complied by DCAS. Some early statistics on the

         23  written exam are interesting. 22,821 people signed

         24  up for the exam. 17,151 wound up taking it. Over

         25  5,500 people who had paid the registration fee
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          2  didn't take the test. This compares to 40,000 who

          3  signed up for their last test in '92, and 30,000 who

          4  wound up taking it in 1992. In that case, 9,200

          5  people who signed up didn't take the test.

          6                 In terms of minority participation on

          7  this exam, 2,595 African-Americans signed up for the

          8  February test. 1,724 took the test. 871 who signed

          9  up didn't take the exam.

         10                 In 1992, 3,595 African-Americans

         11  signed up for the test, 1,995 took it, and 1,400

         12  didn't. I think this number is significant and goes

         13  to my earlier statement about wanting to attract a

         14  quality candidate to the test.

         15                 Even though the universe of

         16  African-American applicants was over 1,000

         17  candidates higher in 1992, this year we have only

         18  150 fewer candidates. This is while overall

         19  applications were down over 50 percent.

         20                 3,067 Latino candidates applied for

         21  the test this year. 2,094 took it. 973 didn't. In

         22  1992, 3,736 applied, 2,613 took it, 1,023 didn't. We

         23  believe the retention of Latino candidates is also

         24  important. Of course, a true measure of the effort

         25  will be after the physical when we see how many
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          2  minority candidates we have in a hirable position on

          3  the list.

          4                 This year we had 898 women apply to

          5  take the test. Despite the efforts of the recruiters

          6  and professional women firefighters who made phone

          7  calls to each of these applicants, only 473 women

          8  actually took the test.

          9                 In 1992, there were 1,260 female

         10  applicants and 675 test takers. The attrition rate

         11  is almost the same. Again we are hoping that our

         12  recruitment of women from college and high school

         13  athletic teams combined with the mentoring of the

         14  staff and women firefighters will help them score

         15  well on the physical.

         16                 The next phase of the process is the

         17  physical exam which is set to begin at the end of

         18  November. We approached the YMCA three years ago

         19  about creating a firefighters' test prep training

         20  course that would focus participants on building

         21  capabilities that would help them complete tasks

         22  required on the physical.

         23                 Our objective was to make training

         24  programs more accessible. Those programs are

         25  currently operating. They are located in inner-city
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          2  neighborhoods, Castle Hill Avenue in the Bronx,

          3  Bedford Avenue in Brooklyn, Parsons Boulevard in

          4  Jamaica, Queens, the Harlem Y at West 135th Street

          5  in Manhattan and at 651 Broadway in Staten Island.

          6                 We've worked with the Fire Safety

          7  Education Fund and the New York Women's Foundation

          8  who is currently running a training course for

          9  female candidates. The sessions are held at John Jay

         10  College in Manhattan.

         11                 This program is geared to condition

         12  candidates and prepares them for the physical.

         13                 In addition, we have built a course

         14  similar to the one that will be used by DCAS on the

         15  test. The course is at our Training Academy on

         16  Randall's Island. Letters will be going out soon to

         17  all candidates to come for what we call an

         18  "exposure" to this course. Our intent here is not

         19  to train, because we don't have the capability or

         20  the mechanisms to provide training for 15,000

         21  possible candidates. Our intent is to provide

         22  candidates with an opportunity to see, feel and

         23  experience the tasks they may be asked to perform on

         24  the physical. This is particularly important for

         25  people who in the past have had no exposure to
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          2  devices, like an extension ladder, a ceiling pull

          3  machine or a maul, which is a sledgehammer.

          4                 In closing, I think we have made a

          5  sincere effort to try to attract and retain viable

          6  candidates for a very difficult job.

          7                 I believe we will increase diversity

          8  in the Fire Department through these efforts and we

          9  will be happy to come back and discuss the final

         10  results of the list with you when the physical is

         11  over.

         12                 I will be happy to answer any

         13  questions you may have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         15  much, Commissioner.

         16                 Before we take questions, I would

         17  like to do some housekeeping. We have to take a vote

         18  on the resolution which is a vote to file. Would you

         19  please call the roll.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Warden.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Robles.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: McCaffrey.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Eldridge.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Provenzano.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Oddo.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: By a vote of

          9  six in the affirmative, none in the negative, no

         10  abstentions, the item is filed and the vote is still

         11  open.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Commissioner,

         13  before we really get deep into the questioning, I

         14  know you started within your testimony walking us

         15  through the process of going from test to hiring.

         16  You covered the examination and then you said

         17  successful applicants then are called for the

         18  physical.

         19                 What is your definition of successful

         20  applicant? What does that mean?

         21                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We have a

         22  passing mark that we have determined to be 85. That

         23  would be a successful applicant that would be called

         24  for the physical.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay. And is that
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          2  85 universal? Do you use that on each exam or do you

          3  vary it depending on your prospective needs?

          4                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: The last

          5  exam, no one will be reached probably that didn't

          6  have a 94 or a 95. So, the passing mark is actually

          7  determined by DCAS. That has been different at

          8  different times. We have made it 85 because we felt

          9  we could get enough applicants, take the physical,

         10  but we could get enough of a list with that mark.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Now, when an

         12  applicant applies for an examination, a civil

         13  service exam, DCAS, there is a little note that says

         14  that the passing grade is I think 70 or 75, if I am

         15  not mistaken; is that accurate?

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I think that

         17  is accurate, Larry. I am sorry.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay. Now, at

         19  this point with the successful applicant, if they

         20  are a City resident, this is where the five points

         21  is awarded; is that correct?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: The five

         23  points is awarded after they take the physical and

         24  they do the final overall score, then the five

         25  points is applied. It is not applied after the
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          2  written.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: May I suggest,

          4  this is an observation that I have made. If you have

          5  a person from South Bronx, Harlem, Bed Stuy, and

          6  they attain on the examination an 83, and they are a

          7  City resident and they lived in the City all of

          8  their life, they lose the benefit of the five points

          9  because they haven't made the cut, and I am

         10  wondering if this artificially shrinks the pool of

         11  qualified minorities.

         12                 It would be a suggestion that the

         13  Department could consider giving the five points

         14  after they passed the exam, as long as they get more

         15  than the 70 or the 75 that is stated under DCAS, and

         16  this may vault them into position where they are

         17  coming ahead of someone that lives in Nassau County

         18  or Suffolk County or Putnam County and give them an

         19  opportunity to move for the next step.

         20                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I have no

         21  problem talking to DCAS about that. Some of these

         22  rules are determined by them. I am not sure exactly

         23  how that works. I honestly can't tell you. I have to

         24  talk to DCAS.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay. I hope we
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          2  will continue that discussion because I think this

          3  would enlarge your pool of minority applicants and

          4  give them an opportunity to vault over some of those

          5  applicants that come from out of the City of New

          6  York.

          7                 Okay, the next step, then you go to

          8  the physical, and you have the tutorial for the

          9  physical. Okay, the next area is one that we have

         10  been getting a lot of anecdotal information on, and

         11  that is your investigation. Who makes up the

         12  investigation team? How many minorities are members

         13  of the investigation team?

         14                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: There are two

         15  parts of the process. One is a candidate

         16  investigation unit that is run by our Department of

         17  Personnel. They will turn down somebody who has had

         18  a felony automatically or someone who has had a

         19  dishonorable discharge automatically.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: A dishonorable

         21  discharge from?

         22                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: The military.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay.

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Anybody who

         25  has had a dishonorable discharge from any military
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          2  would get an automatic decline. And also someone who

          3  has had a felony. So, that doesn't go any further

          4  than our Department of Personnel. And also people

          5  who have failed medical for some reason or another.

          6                 Then it goes to a review board that

          7  has been established by me of several fire chiefs,

          8  an attorney that is our Deputy Commissioner for

          9  Legal, the head of personnel, and that is about it.

         10  It is about eight people. About eight people. They

         11  sit down and they look at requests for

         12  considerations. And that is, you know, they sit down

         13  and they look at these files, no one knows who this

         14  person is, no one knows whether he is a minority or

         15  is not a minority, and that is reviewed by this

         16  panel and they vote on whether it could take him

         17  onto the job as a consideration, because he has had

         18  something in his past, whether it is drunk driving

         19  at a young age or petty larceny or some kind of

         20  issue that he got arrested for at some time during

         21  his life or some other issue, and that is looked at

         22  I think in a very fair way and consideration is

         23  given to everybody equally.

         24                 And you have heard anecdotally, I

         25  believe, and accurately that this is not a fair
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          2  process. We believe it is.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Well, from what

          4  you describe it is fair, but people have come to me

          5  that have had say a general discharge from the

          6  service and then they are denied that have had

          7  misdemeanors as teenagers. One case involved a young

          8  man who was 18, got a ticket, was angry, threw the

          9  ticket out of the car, got arrested for disorderly

         10  conduct. Grew up, applied for the Fire Department

         11  and was denied. That is not a felony.

         12                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: You are

         13  absolutely right. We pride ourselves in having a

         14  department that has higher standards and we hold

         15  those standards generally for every -- not generally

         16  for everybody but generally and we try to give

         17  people that chance that we feel deserve it but we

         18  feel we look at it and we say well this is a little

         19  bit more than what we should take. I mean, it is

         20  just the way it is done.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay, and that

         22  decision is made by your review panel?

         23                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay.

         25                 One other question in the area.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I would have

          3  no problem, and I didn't mean to interrupt you, but

          4  if you want to see how that works I would have

          5  absolutely no problem with you coming over and

          6  seeing how that works.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you.

          8                 Those individuals that are EMTs and

          9  they take the promotional examinations, is there an

         10  age limit in place for those individuals?

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And what is the

         13  age limit?

         14                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: The age limit

         15  is 29 and a half.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: It is the same,

         17  29?

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay, isn't that

         20  contrary to, and I am just asking, civil service

         21  law, state civil service law that says that age

         22  requirements should not be considered when you are

         23  doing a promotional exam. Section 54.

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Larry, before

         25  you go any further, you are right. I am sure that is
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          2  what the law says. We clearly stated it on our

          3  notice of examination. Our position is that they

          4  will be treated exactly as someone taking the test

          5  to come on the job.

          6                 We have had people already say that

          7  we are wrong about it. DCAS is reviewing it, they

          8  are trying to find out whether or not we did not

          9  have the right to say that in notice of examination.

         10  If we didn't, we will have to change it. But that is

         11  our position and we will find out whether or not

         12  legally we are correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay. I was just

         14  trying to make sure that --

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We

         16  understand.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: -- We cover all

         18  of our bases.

         19                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We wanted to

         20  make sure that with this promotional examination we

         21  are going to get people that are physically

         22  qualified to be firefighters, you know. But that is

         23  an issue that is bigger than us with civil service

         24  law.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay.
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          2                 I would like to reopen the record for

          3  a vote. Council Member Michels.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Aye.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote now

          7  stands at seven in the affirmative, none in the

          8  negative with no abstentions and is closed.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Council Member

         10  Perkins.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         12  very much, Mr. Chairman.

         13                 Commissioner, I want to ask you a

         14  question that it seems to not be addressed at all in

         15  your testimony and it is a question that comes to

         16  mind by virtue of the concerns that African-American

         17  and Latino firefighters raise in that there is

         18  discrimination in how these officers, firefighters

         19  are selected in terms of the psychological tests, in

         20  terms of the background tests, and they are very

         21  adamant about this and very consistent about this,

         22  but your testimony doesn't seem to think it is

         23  worthy of note, or how do you response to that?

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, it is

         25  not that I don't think it is worthy of note, it is
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          2  just that we don't agree with it.

          3                 I don't have total control over the

          4  examination process. It is designed and put together

          5  by DCAS. Psychological is what the psychological is.

          6  It is not created by me. I don't believe that it

          7  prejudices any particular group.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Have you had

          9  a chance to sit down with these representatives

         10  within the Department that are African-American,

         11  Latino and come to understand their point of view

         12  and discuss with them where they see the problem is?

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes, I mean

         14  we --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You have had

         16  discussions with them?

         17                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, I guess

         18  you maybe have an answer to the question you are

         19  asking.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: No, I don't

         21  have an answer.

         22                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We have had

         23  discussions over a period of time but I can't

         24  remember a specific meeting that was designed to

         25  question the merits of the psychological
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          2  examination, with not just anecdotal criticisms, but

          3  specifics that show a different psychological

          4  examination is used in other cities that is better

          5  than the one that we use, or incidences of where an

          6  individual was declined because of a psychological

          7  reason that they believed was unfair. I am not aware

          8  of those and I would be happy to sit down and talk

          9  about that specifically. In a meeting I am sure it

         10  came up and I probably answered it the way I am

         11  answering it to you, and never went to DCAS and said

         12  let's change the psychological or let's change the

         13  written exam. I haven't done that.

         14                 I have spoken to people in the

         15  Department of Justice. I was just involved with a

         16  process that was nationwide and creating a new

         17  physical exam for ten cities around the country,

         18  that all of the unions were involved and also

         19  besides management, and they came up with

         20  improvements in the physical. People from the

         21  Department of Justice told me that they would like

         22  to come and speak to me about changing our written

         23  exam because they think that there might be

         24  something to some of the things that you are saying.

         25  I told them fine, let's sit down and you tell me
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          2  what we have to do to make this exam better. But I

          3  haven't done that, no.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I just want

          5  to be clear. So, you do think there is merit to the

          6  concerns that they raise?

          7                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I think that

          8  if the Department of Justice or someone is saying

          9  that we could do a better written exam, I am very

         10  happy to sit down with DCAS and come up with a

         11  better written exam.

         12                 I don't -- there is nothing that I

         13  have seen that makes me think there is something

         14  wrong with this test. I think that we made, when we

         15  change this test many years ago and started to make

         16  it I think a lot easier, where we have so many high

         17  written marks now, I think that has made it

         18  difficult, made it difficult in other ways.

         19                 But if it was designed, I thought,

         20  whenever this test was designed, whether this was

         21  the same design for the 1992 test or the one before

         22  that in 1985, I thought it was designed by DCAS and

         23  by professional test writers to prevent these types

         24  of problems. If there is something there, then let's

         25  sit down and correct it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: For instance,

          3  there are areas of discretion that are, in terms of

          4  the sort of the background and the psychological

          5  part of the qualifications that in some instances an

          6  African-American and a Latino would be disqualified

          7  because of certain aspects of that background and

          8  white candidates would not be disqualified, those

          9  are some of the concerns that they have raised. You

         10  don't think there is any merit to that?

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I would be

         12  happy to hear specifics and sit down with DCAS and

         13  people who, if there is something wrong with that

         14  psychological examination, then it should be

         15  changed. I am not aware of it. I would be glad to

         16  sit down and correct it if it is.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. Thank

         18  you very much. I think there is a very serious

         19  concern being raised by the African-American and

         20  Latino firefighters who are under your jurisdiction,

         21  under your supervision who work with the Fire

         22  Department who have credibility and who have been

         23  trying to be heard, and I think it would be to all

         24  of our best interests, if a diligent effort,

         25  especially on your part, would be made to be sure
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          2  that there is fairness and there is not

          3  discrimination because if you listen to them, this

          4  is a very discriminatory thing that is happening in

          5  the Fire Department, and we can't tolerate that.

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Okay, I agree

          7  with you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Commissioner,

          9  again, looking at some of the other departments

         10  within the City of New York, you have the Police

         11  Department, which is leaning toward a better sense

         12  of diversity, we have the Corrections Department,

         13  which has diversity, Sanitation has diversity, they

         14  are under civil service structure, they all have a

         15  physical and a psychological and a test.

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: They don't

         17  have physicals. Not all of them. The physical makes

         18  our job very difficult, I think.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay, I will give

         20  you that one.

         21                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: What do you think

         23  is the problem? Why is it say Corrections can have

         24  such a more diverse work force than fire? They are

         25  all uniformed services. We have got to be able to
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          2  pinpoint what the problem is. Why is it that we find

          3  more African-Americans, Latinos, applying for

          4  Corrections than Fire? Personally, I think Fire is a

          5  better job.

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: There is no

          7  question. And it is very frustrating for us to agree

          8  with what you just said. I think our job is the best

          9  job in this City, for anybody who really wants to

         10  make a decent living, have a great work environment

         11  and help people. Why more minorities aren't aware of

         12  how terrific a job is, our job is, I think is where

         13  we have failed. I don't think that we have done a

         14  good enough job consistently to make minorities

         15  aware of how good our job is.

         16                 That being said, when you have a test

         17  that shows up every seven years, it is really hard

         18  to have any kind of a consistent mentoring program

         19  where you really do get involved the way we have

         20  been getting involved with individuals this past

         21  three years.

         22                 I think that if you continue to do

         23  what we have been doing these past three years, and

         24  you have a test, very often -- if you could have a

         25  promotional test every year that would be great. If
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          2  you can have an applicant, a new employee exam every

          3  two years, that would be terrific. I think that if

          4  you can show people that you are brought into a

          5  possible job opportunity and show them how terrific

          6  it is, stay with them through those five or six

          7  years, maybe when they are graduating high school

          8  and going into community college and show them along

          9  the way things that Lieutenant Wright has been doing

         10  with a group of people these past couple of years,

         11  if we continue to do that over an extended period of

         12  time with more testing opportunities, I think we

         13  will have success. I think that that is where the

         14  Department in the past has failed. It has gone out

         15  every time there is an exam and done a good job of,

         16  trying to do a good job of recruiting, but then you

         17  get a person to take a test, anybody they get to

         18  take the test, it shouldn't be just anybody, it

         19  should be somebody who can score high enough on our

         20  physical, it should be somebody that can score high

         21  enough on our written. We don't want to take people

         22  who can't score high enough on our tests, we want to

         23  keep our job, the reason it is the best in the City

         24  is because we really get a good group of people. We

         25  want to do that but we ought to do a better job of
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          2  making all of the minorities aware of what a great

          3  job it is in getting the creme of the crop from all

          4  of our community colleges in our targeted

          5  communities, and I think we are on track to do that

          6  but the numbers aren't there right now and that is

          7  why we are here today.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Council Member

          9  Eldridge.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I am sorry,

         11  I have some muscle problems so I am not sitting down

         12  very much.

         13                 I mean, the heritage of the Police

         14  Department -- I mean of the Fire Department to be

         15  just very up front about it has historically been

         16  white. It seems to me mostly people white. You have

         17  got generations. You referred to it at the

         18  beginning, it has been a tradition and it is a whole

         19  generation after generation of firefighters and a

         20  family, and I think that that has contributed to it

         21  being such a close knit group of public servants. It

         22  is in competition with the Police Department,

         23  firefighters don't carry guns and that may be less

         24  exciting but it seems to me in a way they have a

         25  more noble profession of saving lives, so it is. But
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          2  it is a traditional thing and I think it requires

          3  recruitment experts that start before a test and

          4  even before high school. I mean, it is the kind of

          5  thing where you have to have a steady kind of

          6  recruitment effort and the attempt to interest

          7  really younger children from junior high school or

          8  even earlier. So, have you instituted programs like

          9  that, and how do you do it? Who in the Department

         10  does it, and is there a permanent recruitment unit

         11  that goes on?

         12                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, we just

         13  said all of that. We just finished saying that we

         14  have instituted all of those things and we have been

         15  doing them for the last three years.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But do you

         17  go to junior high school and grade schools?

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes. Now, I

         19  don't know about grade schools, as far as

         20  recruiting. We go to grade schools for fire safety

         21  presentation. That would be the beginning of

         22  exposing younger children to the firefighter, or the

         23  people in the Fire Department who are talking about

         24  fire safety. But we have been going to high schools

         25  and community colleges, as I said, for about three
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          2  and a half years before this exam. And I agree with

          3  you that it should be ongoing and it shouldn't be

          4  just before the exam and that is what I meant when I

          5  said that if we had the test, a promotional test

          6  every year, and applicant test every two years, you

          7  could have a system built in where this continued

          8  and we would do a better job.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Do you have

         10  an office that does only recruitment?

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But all the

         13  time, not just for tests?

         14                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, I can

         15  only speak for what I have done in the past three

         16  years. That is now in place to continue, even though

         17  the test is over, and we will continue to do that,

         18  at least while I am there.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: You

         20  mentioned that the Justice Department asked you to

         21  see tests, how did that happen?

         22                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I was part of

         23  a panel with ten cities from around the country to

         24  write a new firefighters physical examination that

         25  would be used for the nation. And we did it for
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          2  about two years. We came up with a test very similar

          3  to the test that New York gives, by the way. It was

          4  really our physical test that was used as a model

          5  for these other cities. It made some improvements.

          6  We can't use that physical for our physical right

          7  now because of things that were already on our

          8  notice of examination and differences, it wasn't in

          9  place yet. The Department of Justice has approved it

         10  now for the nation. I think Seattle gave it a couple

         11  of weeks ago, would be the first city that gave it.

         12                 In the course of those meetings I had

         13  some conversations with people at the Department of

         14  Justice who looked at our numbers, just as you are

         15  looking at it, and said something is wrong here, you

         16  have got to do a better job. I told them what we

         17  were doing. They said that they would love to come

         18  in and talk about that they thought that it was

         19  problems with the written test itself, that it could

         20  be improved to help our situation.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Did they

         22  specifically look at the written test?

         23                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I didn't give

         24  it to them but they told me that they thought there

         25  were things that we could do to improve our written
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          2  test and they were going to come in and talk to us.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Now, when

          4  DCAS does a test, and they go out and hire

          5  professionals to help work the test, they must

          6  consult with you, right?

          7                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: For the

          8  firefighters entry examination? There is a job

          9  analysis, that is why I questioned it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And the

         11  psychological evaluation?

         12                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Will you let

         13  me finish my question>.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I am sorry.

         15  Yes.

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: They don't

         17  consult with me. They do send job analysis

         18  questionnaires just to find out things that the

         19  firefighters do in the field, and then that becomes

         20  part of what they give the experts to write the

         21  examination.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Is there

         23  anybody here who can tell us who the experts are?

         24  How many of them are African American, how many of

         25  them are Latino, how many women?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No. You will

          3  have to ask DCAS, I don't know.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Well, I

          5  don't think that is a satisfactory answer. I mean

          6  that is what I think we are talking about, and I

          7  think that is one of the things Council Member

          8  Perkins --

          9                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I will ask

         10  DCAS and I will tell you. I don't know the answer.

         11  Why would I give you an answer I don't know? I will

         12  tell you where you can get the answer, from DCAS, or

         13  I will get it for you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: All right.

         15  It is up to the Chairman. But I think that is what

         16  we are talking about when we talk about this, and

         17  this happens in all kinds of very traditional

         18  respectable things.

         19                 I was once on, for many years, on an

         20  institutional review board at NYU Medical Center,

         21  which meant that we had to review all the protocols

         22  and see if different things about research done on

         23  humans. I was the lay representative. And I used to

         24  object on a consist basis because women of

         25  child-bearing age were always excluded from the
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          2  tests. And everybody would sort of laugh because I

          3  was the only woman also on the board. It now turns

          4  out that all of these tests on new medications, new

          5  procedures have been changed because in fact women

          6  have been excluded. And it is very important with

          7  the people who are making up the tests, and it is

          8  what you consider, it is how you stay in tune, and I

          9  think that you have them with college board testing,

         10  you have them with all kinds of things, we

         11  increasingly are aware that these tests reflect one

         12  culture and not other cultures and I think that is a

         13  very important thing, as well as in the promotion

         14  process.

         15                 When you do promotions, who makes the

         16  decision about promoting somebody within the

         17  Department.

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: The promotion

         19  itself is just based on headcount. The examination

         20  is put together by DCAS with officers that we send

         21  over from the Fire Department to give them advice on

         22  what fire officers do.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So you make

         24  the list?

         25                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And you are

          3  on the list. Do you have to take three of the top

          4  five? I mean, who makes that final decision about

          5  the hiring?

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, we have

          7  the opportunity to use one in three on our

          8  promotional list, we don't usually do it.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So you

         10  usually take one, two, three in that order?

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes. Unless

         12  the person is something really unusually --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What about

         14  their race or sex?

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Our

         16  promotional exams are what we believe very fair. We

         17  just take the next person on the list. Unless last

         18  week the person was a felon, you know, and we don't

         19  take them, we fire them.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I understand

         21  that. But if two of the five, if you could take one

         22  out of three and two of the three were people either

         23  of color or of the different sex, or women, you

         24  would not select number two in stead of number one?

         25                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Me? No. Not
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          2  in the Fire Department. I would never do that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But if the

          4  person has qualified the test, that may be the way

          5  you are going to have to promote.

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No, I have a

          7  promotional exam that equal people study, no matter

          8  whether they are a man, a woman, black, Hispanic,

          9  whatever. They come out with a mark on the exam and

         10  I am going to use that mark on the Lieutenant and

         11  Captains sequentially.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I may be

         13  ignorant. I may not understand it. But if you have

         14  the choice of taking one out of three, it means you

         15  can take into consideration something other than

         16  just the academic number of where they placed on the

         17  exam, right?

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: You are

         19  talking about promotional exams now?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Yes.

         21                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, I don't

         22  understand what you are trying to say. You are

         23  trying to say I should take a minority.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I am asking

         25  if you have any kind of affirmative action program.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: If you can

          4  take one out of three and the person has passed on

          5  the test and ranked third instead of second, you are

          6  not going to do that to increase participation.

          7                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Because he is

          8  a minority? No.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Well, I

         10  think that is a question.

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: That's a

         12  question.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Or a woman

         14  , right?

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Or a woman.

         16  No, I am going to take the next person on a list,

         17  unless I believed this person was not going to be a

         18  good officer, that is what I am going to do.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I think that

         20  is a very important thing. I mean, some of us would

         21  say that you would be able to increase the number of

         22  officers and to increase the possibilities of

         23  promotion for people of color and women if you were

         24  to take one out of three --

         25                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I have to
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          2  send an officer out in the field to take four or

          3  five young firefighters down the hallway with their

          4  lives at risk. I am not going to send a person out

          5  there based on that. I won't do that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But if you

          7  have one out of -- suppose if you can take two, you

          8  are going to hire two people and you get the first

          9  three names, you will take one and two, right?

         10                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But two,

         12  under your interpretation, if you could only take

         13  one, two is a danger because he is not ranked one.

         14                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Now, under my

         15  interpretation, number two came out two and number

         16  three came out three, and I am going to take number

         17  three when I get to him, unless there is something

         18  wrong with him and he won't be a good officer and he

         19  is going to put somebody's life at risk in the

         20  field. Otherwise he earned that promotion and I am

         21  going to give it to him.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Do you

         23  consult with other departments on questions of

         24  hiring and/or practices with women, for instance,

         25  and the number of women? We are very distressed
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          2  about this happening.

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We are

          4  distressed too, but as far as consulting with other

          5  departments, we have a test to come on the

          6  Department and we have a physical, and like I said

          7  to you, I think that we failed in getting more

          8  minorities and women to come and take this test.

          9  Once this number has taken the test, and once this

         10  number has scored high enough on the physical to get

         11  called, I don't think we can be criticized. You can

         12  only take a woman if she is on the list in our

         13  present system, and I think that is a fair system.

         14  Where we have to do a better job is get more women

         15  on that list and more women to get a better score on

         16  the physical.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: We have had

         18  hearings about, especially with women and

         19  non-traditional agencies. They perceive this as a

         20  hostile environment, so women are not going to take

         21  this test. Therefore you have to make extra efforts

         22  to recruit those women, (a) to get them and to take

         23  the test, extra efforts to assist them when they are

         24  taking the test, especially with the physical part

         25  of it. You can't just do it one, two, three. If you
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          2  do it one, two, three and continue to do it that

          3  way, you are going to continue to have the kind of

          4  figures you have.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: One of

          6  the things that we recognized was that we needed to

          7  increase the universe of women that were taking the

          8  test. And especially for this effort in this last

          9  exam, one of the things that we did was go out and

         10  try different places that we hadn't recruited

         11  before, one of the places where women who have taken

         12  the test have not had success has been on the

         13  physical. One of our approaches this time was to try

         14  to identify women who had a better chance of doing

         15  well on the physical. And the way that we did that

         16  was working with the Professional Women Firefighters

         17  Organization, working with the recruiters and went

         18  all over to athletic organizations, to women's

         19  athletic leagues, to women's organizations, we put

         20  ads in newspapers specifically identifying areas

         21  where we could get women to take the test, and

         22  hopefully working with John Jay and the Fire Safety

         23  Education Fund on a program that is funded by the

         24  New York Women's Organization, we are going to be

         25  able to help train some of the successful applicants
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          2  who did take the test, who are now waiting to take

          3  the physical, so that they will score higher on the

          4  physical, so that in ranked order we will have more

          5  of a universe of people to take the test.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So you will

          7  offer, the Fire Department will offer the training

          8  for women applicants.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: The Fire

         10  Safety Education Fund, which is an organization that

         11  works with the Fire Department, applied for a grant

         12  with the Professional Women's Organization, the Fire

         13  Department assisted in the preparation of that

         14  grant. That program is underway right now. All of

         15  the female candidates were invited to that program.

         16  All of the applicants who applied for the test were

         17  called individually, and you know, stressed and

         18  mentored to try to come down and take the test.

         19  Frankly, we are very frustrated. We had 900

         20  applicants for this test, and we would up with 487

         21  women taking the test.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE:  But this is

         23  very important and this is what ties into the

         24  promotion. The women aren't stupid, people of color

         25  aren't stupid, they are not going to invest their
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          2  efforts into a career that is not going to afford

          3  them chances for advancement.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And because

          6  the statistics not only are bad as to the number of

          7  people, women and Latinos and African-Americans --

          8  do you have any Asians in the Fire Department?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: How many?

         11  What percent?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: Very

         13  small.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But that is

         15  not going to encourage more people to take the test,

         16  because they are not going to spend their time in an

         17  environment that they perceive not to be friendly

         18  and not to be helpful in giving them advancement

         19  possibilities. And that is why I think you have got

         20  to look and pay attention to the internal feelings,

         21  because that emanates out and people are not dumb,

         22  they can see the difference.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Commissioner, may

         25  I officially request that you advise our Committee
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          2  as to who in DCAS is making those decisions? And I

          3  believe the question related to how many

          4  African-Americans, how many Latinos, et cetera, if

          5  you can give us a report.

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I will find

          7  out.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 I just want to make a note that

         11  Councilwoman Cruz has asked me to put into the

         12  record, we had had a hearing in October '98 before

         13  the Committee on Civil Service and Labor concerning

         14  the minority recruitment, and since then the Council

         15  has created this Committee to oversee the Fire

         16  Department.

         17                 So, one of the issues was the Fire

         18  Cadet Program and I believe Council Member Robles

         19  will be discussing that issue.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I am sorry, I

         22  was distracted, but I will never say no to the

         23  chairman of a committee that I serve, so whatever

         24  you said, I echo, and I hope I don't get into

         25  trouble.
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          2                 Anyway, Tom, good seeing you. It is

          3  nice to see you always. Like I say about my

          4  colleagues that I work with.

          5                 Before I get into an area of

          6  questions, let me make sure that I understand. Some

          7  of us may be lame ducks, not dead ducks, sometimes,

          8  you know, things do happen.

          9                 DCAS keeps being mentioned, so I am

         10  assuming that DCAS is the lead agency in terms of

         11  the exam because under the State Civil Service law,

         12  that burden is on them, i.e. the exam; is that fair

         13  to say?

         14                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes. On the

         15  creation of the exam.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And whatever

         17  the exam is, although, and I must say because I was

         18  in the assembly and I am just as frustrated as some

         19  of my colleagues here is, because whatever we derive

         20  it comes from state mandate, which sometimes we

         21  forget that we need to address the state mandate in

         22  order to try to put into place some of these things,

         23  but I just wanted to make sure. So the consultation

         24  with you, in terms of the agency, is not

         25  particularly how you would like the exam written, it
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          2  is basically getting a feeling of what you do and

          3  how you do it and then they try to do an exam that

          4  will --

          5                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: But really the

          7  mandate is really on DCAS to do that, correct?

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: To write the

          9  exam, yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I just want to

         11  make sure I am still in the same thing. And with

         12  respect to promotion, whether it is firefighters, or

         13  promotions in terms of the fire officers and what

         14  have you, again, that is civil service driven,

         15  correct?

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And the

         18  question, and I must say --

         19                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I think,

         20  though, we have a little bit more input in the

         21  promotional exams because they do call for experts,

         22  the lieutenants they are called for lieutenants, the

         23  captains --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Right, that is

         25  part of what is mandated of you.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: They do the

          3  exam, right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I understand

          5  that. But the uniqueness of the promotion when it

          6  comes to officers is because you are mandated, or

          7  they are mandated to include a certain level in

          8  terms of the promotion which is different from the

          9  police and what have you.

         10                 And the question about the rule one

         11  of three, I mean in reality, but you were honest

         12  enough and I could never, while I may disagree, I

         13  could never get upset, because you were really

         14  honest and up front, the fact is that the Civil

         15  Service law gives you the right in an exam, with a

         16  list, that says you can pick one of three. So, in

         17  essence, even though it is one let's say through

         18  six, and you have two positions you must fill, while

         19  you were honest to say I am going to go one, two,

         20  three, four, the fact is that you can pick one of

         21  every three. Otherwise you can skip two and then go

         22  on to number four, five, six, so long as you stay

         23  within the one of three rule; is that correct?

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So that
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          2  Council Member Eldridge question, in what she was

          3  trying to say to you, that is possible, it is just

          4  that you were honest enough to say I have decided

          5  that I will go strictly down the list, one, two,

          6  three, four, five, I think that is what you said.

          7                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Let me be

          8  even a little more specific. I am talking about

          9  lieutenants, captains, people who take firefighters

         10  --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Well then say

         12  that because I am --

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Okay.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Because I am

         15  getting confused between the firefighters exam and

         16  the fire officers. And in the firefighters exam,

         17  again, as I know it, the rule is one of three?

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: The rule is

         19  one in three for all of the exams.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I understand

         21  that.

         22                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: To me there

         23  is three different pieces to it. One is the new

         24  people coming on the job. We look at all kinds of

         25  things, you know, in relating to them as far as
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          2  character, we talked before about arrests or things

          3  in their past that are really a problem. That we use

          4  the one in three. Then there is a promotional exam

          5  for a lieutenant and captain. I will not go past two

          6  candidates to reach a minority or a woman on that

          7  promotional exam just because I am trying to reach a

          8  minority or a woman. The reason is because I know

          9  what it is like to be in the field, to be in a

         10  situation where everybody wants to believe in that

         11  boss and because their lives are dependent on his

         12  leadership, that I think would be a terrible,

         13  terrible mistake in this Department. I won't do it.

         14  Maybe the next guy will, but I won't.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Now --

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Now, wait.

         17  There is one more piece. The third piece is when you

         18  get to become a chief. I don't have any problem with

         19  thinking about one in three at that level, because I

         20  think besides leadership in the field, in a

         21  dangerous situation, the competency in putting a

         22  fire out, there are now new pieces to this. Someone

         23  has got to understand what it is like to run a

         24  department with limited resources, has to be able to

         25  deal with City Council people, has to be able to
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          2  deal with the press and the public, there are all

          3  kinds of other qualities that maybe should be part

          4  of the process, so I think one in three should be

          5  part of that. So to me there are three different

          6  groups.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Let me just

          8  say that I am happy that the Council created this

          9  Committee, because too long -- I mean, as we attempt

         10  to reach out to John Doe, the public, I think

         11  something that I have been, I don't want to say

         12  critical, but I have raised over and over going back

         13  to when Joseph Spinato was Commissioner, and that is

         14  that the Fire Department and the firehouses has to

         15  open up their doors and people have to come in.

         16                 If you want to know about the

         17  Department, you need to educate, but in the same

         18  token we need to be educated about internally,

         19  inside, how does it work. That is why I was leading

         20  to that.

         21                 Let me get to --

         22                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I agree with

         23  that, by the way.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I still urge

         25  you, my dear friend, to open up those firehouses
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          2  where it is not just classroom visits, ding ding

          3  ding, like I was a little kid on a class trip, but

          4  rather -- I don't know how you are going to do it,

          5  but like the police precincts that have precinct

          6  councils, where they encourage the community to come

          7  in, you have to try to find a way of opening up

          8  those firehouses where people feel that that is a

          9  public building, not only when the Fire Department

         10  responds to a call.

         11                 But when Howard Safir was Fire

         12  Commissioner, one of the things that I helped with

         13  him was I felt there should be a fire cadet program,

         14  we started it, I see that you have a Fire Cadet

         15  Program.

         16                 Let me first say that in the Police

         17  Department, the Police Cadet Program, very clear,

         18  you have a college student or a high school student

         19  that will be going into college, you assist, you

         20  help, there is a certain training, they get

         21  compensated, but with a guarantee that once they

         22  reach a certain age of 21 they are police officers.

         23  That is without a doubt.

         24                 So, young people would go through the

         25  Cadet Program because it does one of several things.
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          2  One, it does help them in terms of college. Two, on

          3  the job training where you are working after a

          4  certain period of time with the academic side. You

          5  actually physically work within the Police

          6  Department, and three, you know you are going to

          7  become a police officer.

          8                 Now, your Police Cadet Program, is it

          9  similar to the Police Department where if a young

         10  person who is in college, I note that you say you

         11  have it, do they know that once they complete that

         12  at the end of the tunnel they will be firefighters?

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay.

         15                 Now, so your cadet program motivates,

         16  encourages, but does not guarantee?

         17                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: It does not

         18  guarantee a job as a firefighter.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Right.

         20                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: What we have

         21  done though is given them jobs in EMS.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay, I will

         23  do that, but let me just say this, because I am

         24  still trying to stick to the issue of numbers and

         25  civil service.
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          2                 I suggest that one of the things you

          3  look at, Commissioner, is again, like the Police

          4  Department, where a young person can become a cadet

          5  and be able to take the exam and at the end of the

          6  tunnel know that if he or she will become a

          7  firefighter, which is a little different from the

          8  EMS and what have you. Now, I just will pose that.

          9                 Now, let me go into the other area

         10  which said, even though you become an EMS and you

         11  point out that there was a promotional test for EMTs

         12  and paramedics who could successfully meet the

         13  requirements and somehow become firefighters. Let me

         14  go back to this.

         15                 Now that they are merged, are you

         16  saying to me that there are two kinds of exams, one

         17  for EMS, EMTs, paramedics and then if you want to

         18  become a firefighter, you have got to take another

         19  exam; is that what I am hearing?

         20                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes. But let

         21  me explain it a little bit.

         22                 It is what we call a promotional

         23  test. It is meant for the people who were our cadets

         24  and became EMTs, the people who are EMTs for as long

         25  as they have been with Health and Hospitals and now
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          2  with the Fire Department, for a paramedic that wants

          3  to switch over and become a firefighter.  It is a

          4  promotional exam, only because we didn't want to

          5  make it just automatic.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: These are

          7  people who may have been already in the EMS system

          8  as when they were at HHC.

          9                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And, so, in

         11  doing that, when they choose to go that route, like

         12  when you did your first respond, that we actually

         13  trained but the City paid for the training.

         14                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Any of those

         16  EMTs, paramedics, who may have been once EMS within

         17  HHC who now find themselves within the Fire

         18  Department in that category, do they have to, one,

         19  be trained within the Fire Department, even though

         20  they worked for HHC and they were at one time EMS

         21  personnel, and if they need to be trained, do you

         22  train at your cost, or do they need to out of their

         23  pocket pay for that training?

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: This was

         25  something that was brand new for us, so this is the
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          2  first time we did it. And I am sure it is not

          3  perfect, we will try to improve it. But what we

          4  designed was we had a new test for new applicants,

          5  we gave that same test --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: When you are

          7  saying new applicants --

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: A new

          9  applicant, a kid who just takes the test to become a

         10  firefighter.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So they did

         12  not work for HHC before.

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Right. Right.

         14  This is anybody from the outside, no matter what

         15  occupation he had. He takes the test to become

         16  firefighter, that same test we gave to a group of

         17  people that are in EMS, whether they are from our

         18  Cadet Program or whether they have been in EMS their

         19  whole career or they just got there last week or

         20  last year or whatever, the date, whatever that date

         21  was, they took the same test as the new candidates

         22  took, they took that test as a promotional exam. If

         23  they score on the top of that list, or pass the

         24  score, whatever is determined by DCAS, they will

         25  come on to the fire side automatically. They will
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          2  have a separate list. There is about 300 of these

          3  folks that will have scored high enough on the

          4  written to take the physical. Now, if they score

          5  high enough on the physical, there will be a

          6  promotional list of 100, 150, whatever it is, they

          7  will be in the first class of this new list. So,

          8  they will come over for the Fire Department, not

          9  automatically without having taken an exam, like you

         10  mentioned the Police Cadet Program, but very easily

         11  because they now don't have to go on a list that

         12  will probably be with 5,000 people. They will be on

         13  the top of that list. We thought that was a fair way

         14  to do the first batch from EMS. And as time goes by

         15  that might change but this was the first group.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: During that

         17  process, and I am not really referring to the new

         18  members off the street who want to become EMTs or

         19  paramedics into the Fire Department, I want to go

         20  back to the HHC, EMS which now got merged, and they,

         21  themselves, in terms of promotion within the ranks,

         22  or eventually become firefighters; can you just

         23  elaborate for me the following:

         24                 When we in the merge and first

         25  respond, we pay for the training of current
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          2  firefighters to become first response personnel,

          3  question: On the EMS HHC, now merged into the Fire

          4  Department, the training, because it may be a little

          5  different when there was an HHC with the Fire

          6  Department, you have certain things that you do that

          7  maybe they didn't do in the Fire Department, those

          8  individuals, do you give them training to meet the

          9  requirements within your agency after the merger?

         10  And the question is, did you do the same for them as

         11  you did for the first respond?

         12                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, I think

         13  it is really two separate things. What we have done

         14  for them is tried to help them prepare for the

         15  physical. We did not help them any differently than

         16  anybody else for the written test.

         17                 If they become, you know, swing over

         18  to the fire side after they have this promotional

         19  opportunity, then all of the training would be while

         20  they are employed as firefighters. So, it wouldn't

         21  be on their own, as you are saying, it would be

         22  while they were firefighters and it would be of no

         23  cost, if that is what you are getting to, Victor. I

         24  am not sure exactly what you mean.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay, and I
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          2  will end with this one, so you are saying to me that

          3  either/or --

          4                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Oh, I am

          5  sorry. Lynn just said to me, you are talking about

          6  the CFRD that we gave the firefighters.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Right.

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We paid for

          9  that. They have already got that when they come

         10  over, more than that. The training for a CFRD first

         11  responder is probably about 80 hours. EMTs come over

         12  with over 140 hours. Paramedics it's 1,000 hours I

         13  think. So, that training they have already got when

         14  they come over to the fire side, and now we have the

         15  decision to make of whether or not to keep that

         16  training up as EMTs and paramedics, that is the next

         17  phase of problems to deal with.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay.

         19                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Council Member

         21  Oddo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 Commissioner, you may recall that my

         25  brother was an employee of the New York City Fire
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          2  Department for 17 years, the last two he has been a

          3  lieutenant. That means for 15 years he ran into

          4  buildings led by fire officers, the best and the

          5  brightest, and I applaud you for your position that

          6  you are not going to undertake a policy that would

          7  weaken that. But the issue I guess that we are here

          8  about, there is no reason why the best and the

          9  brightest shouldn't include various minority groups.

         10  You indicated in your testimony that we don't know

         11  yet how effective your policies have been because we

         12  are still waiting for it. You said that the physical

         13  exam will begin November. What is the time frame for

         14  when that exam will be completed so that we can

         15  determine how effective, if they have been

         16  effective, your policies, are?

         17                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I think it is

         18  about four months DCAS projects finishing the

         19  physical, so it is December, January, February,

         20  March, hopefully by April, the end of April we will

         21  have it complete.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So by the end of

         23  April you will be able to determine, or how soon

         24  after April you will be able to determine how many

         25  minorities you were able to recruit on?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: They will

          3  have finished the physical exam, when you actually

          4  get a list -- they keep telling me 32 weeks.

          5                 (Directed to staff members) do you

          6  know when we are going to have a list?

          7                 I can't tell you when we will

          8  actually have the list. The physical testing will

          9  complete, as soon after that as possible we will be

         10  able to determine, but I need that information back

         11  then from DCAS.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So maybe some

         13  time during the summer this Committee is going to

         14  come together again and you will have information to

         15  find out how effective --

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: That is

         17  another thing I will have to check with DCAS, to

         18  find out when the list will be ready.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Commissioner,

         20  what happens if we come back in July of 2000 and we

         21  find out that recruitment hasn't gone up? Are there

         22  any other sort of unorthodox ideas that you have

         23  sort of kept in the draw? What happens if we come

         24  back a year from now and it hasn't improved at all?

         25                 COMMISSIONER ESSEN: It could very
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          2  well be the case, to be totally honest, with the

          3  beginning of the new list, and depending on when the

          4  new list gets started and all of the other

          5  variables.

          6                 What I said is we had a test in

          7  February of '99, this past year, I want to have

          8  another test in two years, so that test is only a

          9  year away from next year. We want to continue doing

         10  what we are doing. We want to continue reaching out

         11  for people in this database, we want to continue

         12  mentoring these young people. We are in the process

         13  of hiring 100 people that we think will really make

         14  a difference for us in reaching out and helping us

         15  spend more one on one time with all of these kids

         16  and these groups that we have targeted. I don't

         17  think that is unorthodox, I think it is just like a

         18  common sense way of trying to do a better job of

         19  reaching more people in a group you are trying to

         20  get to.

         21                 The only way to do that is to have a

         22  test as often as possible so people see something

         23  that is in front of them and not something that is

         24  remote seven or eight years away.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Are there other
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          2  cities, other Fire Departments in other cities that

          3  have a similar situation to ours? And are there any

          4  unique approaches being taken by cities outside of

          5  the State?

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I think that

          7  there is probably nobody that has as bad a minority

          8  number as we have, that I have seen anyway. I think

          9  there are other cities that have tried different

         10  things, I think there are other cities that are

         11  under mandates to hire minorities that are ordered

         12  because of consent decrees and everything, that are

         13  forced to it, I think that is a disastrous way to

         14  go. I think that some of the cities have done a much

         15  better job in recruiting and I think it is because

         16  it is ongoing and a test is regular, and I think

         17  that people have been interested in coming on this

         18  Department for other reasons in other cities because

         19  they have done medical work for so many years, and I

         20  think that might be one of the reasons that some

         21  cities have more success in attracting women. I

         22  think that that might be one of the reasons, I am

         23  not really sure.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you,

         25  Commissioner.
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Commissioner, I

          4  have heard you say several times that you were in

          5  favor of more additional testing every couple of

          6  years, do you have the approval for that initiative

          7  as of yet?

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I have only

          9  gotten an okay from the Mayor. I don't think I have

         10  actually given DCAS the bad news officially yet.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay, when do you

         12  intend to do that?

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: How about

         14  4:00?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Fine.

         16                 Council Member Rodriguez.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chairman.

         19                 I just have a few I guess initial

         20  questions, and I think I understand it but I just

         21  want to clarify it.

         22                 Are you satisfied with the

         23  recruitment effort that has been put forward by your

         24  Department?

         25                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I am
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          2  satisfied with the recruitment effort put forth by

          3  this Department for this exam.

          4                 I don't think that we are going to

          5  have as much success as I would have liked to

          6  because of the numbers. But I am satisfied that we

          7  have done a lot, I think that there is more that we

          8  can do for the next exam, but I think the really

          9  important thing is to start that today and to have

         10  that as soon as possible to keep this going.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Some

         12  questions were asked and you referred to DCAS and

         13  you just mentioned that start today, and I guess

         14  when we had the hearing, I guess it was in October

         15  -- well, when was it? It was about six months ago

         16  with Civil Service and Labor, which I am a member --

         17  Commissioner Feehan, or Deputy Commissioner Feehan

         18  had mentioned that he knew there were problems with

         19  minority recruitment, and I can give you the quote

         20  if you want, but basically that the Fire Department

         21  has acknowledged the number of minorities in the

         22  Department are unsatisfactory, and that efforts must

         23  be undertaken to increase minority representation.

         24  And then I asked you if you were satisfied, and you

         25  say you are satisfied with the effort put forward,
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          2  when we come back and we look at the numbers, and

          3  can you tell me, if you know off the top of your

          4  head, how many lieutenants are people of color?

          5                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I don't have

          6  that number.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Does anyone

          8  here have that number?

          9                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes, I will

         10  get it.

         11                 I think what I am trying to say,

         12  Council Member Rodriguez, is that I am not satisfied

         13  with the numbers. I am satisfied with the effort

         14  that we have made for this exam. I think we made a

         15  great effort, but I intend to make a greater effort

         16  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Let me just

         18  read something for you. Let me just read this and

         19  then maybe we can -- despite of-- this is an article

         20  that I was reading, "'Despite of $450,000

         21  recruitment campaign, a Fire Department program to

         22  hire more women and minorities has been a flop', the

         23  City's Equal Employment Practices Commission said

         24  yesterday."

         25                 When do you think this was written?
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          2  Suspect it could have been written?

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Why don't you

          4  surprise me.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: 1993. So,

          6  today you sit here and you are telling us tomorrow

          7  we are going to do this, I will speak to DCAS

          8  because I don't have the information. I will reach

          9  out to DCAS for this and I will reach out to DCAS

         10  for that because I don't have the information, but I

         11  am satisfied with the effort put forward by my

         12  Department, the Department of which I am the head --

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I think what

         14  I said was --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Well, I

         16  remember you saying to someone don't interrupt.

         17                 However, you sit here and you tell us

         18  we are doing the best that we can do but for the

         19  last 20 or 30 years the result has been the same.

         20  How long have you been commissioner?

         21                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Three and a

         22  half years.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: We haven't

         24  seen. We haven't seen, and we look around and we are

         25  saying where are the changes. We look for the
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          2  changes and we hope that there will be changes and

          3  you said that you are going to have an exam in two

          4  years but you are going to tell DCAS at 4:00. You

          5  should have decided this when you told us back at

          6  that last testimony, you should have thought maybe

          7  we should start thinking about a test in two years,

          8  because that was my recommendation. Maybe we should

          9  think about it, and today you sit here and in your

         10  testimony you probably say we are going to try to

         11  have a test every two years but we haven't told DCAS

         12  yet. We spoke to the Mayor but we haven't told DCAS.

         13  Now, maybe it may not happen.

         14                 How long does it take you to prepare

         15  for a test? Let me start with that question.

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: How long does

         17  it take DCAS to prepare for a test? I don't think

         18  they are going to have any problem giving that test

         19  a year from January, a year from February.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: How long

         21  does it take you to recruit? Because last time when

         22  I said can we have a test every year, the response

         23  was it takes over two years to recruit for a test;

         24  was that an accurate response I got from someone in

         25  your Department?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No, probably

          3  not.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: I

          5  believe I had the conversation with you and I don't

          6  think that was the nature of the conversation at

          7  all.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Can you

          9  tell me what the nature was?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: Sure. I

         11  think the nature of the conversation was that we

         12  said that DCAS had had a problem in the past

         13  administering a test regularly due to the high

         14  numbers that they had and that it was difficult to

         15  take the physical exam and administer the physical

         16  exam on a regular basis.

         17                 We have talked to DCAS, we have

         18  talked to people about --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: That is not

         20  what the Commissioner testified to.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: Pardon

         22  me?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: That is not

         24  what he testified to a few seconds ago.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: We have
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          2  spoken publicly about it, we have run it by DCAS. I

          3  think we are talking about formal conversations

          4  about a timetable, but I think the issue is in terms

          5  of preparing for an exam. We are out there, we are

          6  discussing, instituting an exam on a more regular

          7  basis, and in addition, that we have for the first

          8  time instituted a promotional exam which that is

          9  something that has never been done before, so I

         10  think you can see that we can work with them to

         11  create an exam as we have done this time.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay, I am

         13  also looking at, and I believe this is a document

         14  from the Fire Department that says FDNY recruitment

         15  program, are you familiar with that?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: When was

         18  that supposed to be instituted?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: I am not

         20  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: When was

         22  the first Fire Department of New York recruitment

         23  program --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: We have

         25  had an ongoing recruitment program for the last
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          2  three and a half years that Sheldon Wright and

          3  myself have been involved in.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: And you

          5  don't know of anyone who had them prior to that?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: Yes,

          7  they have had an ongoing recruitment program at the

          8  Fire Department. This specific activity with us

          9  began about three and a half years ago.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay, one

         11  that tries to -- previous recruitment efforts, one

         12  that tries to target, recruit target populations;

         13  does that ring a bell?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Is it

         16  possible that that was also around 1992? This

         17  document?

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: What's your

         19  point? The test was in 1992, you are taking

         20  something that is talking about the last test that

         21  was given.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: That's

         23  right.

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I just told

         25  you the problem, and we agree with your
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          2  recommendation of having a test every two years,

          3  that test was seven years ago. So, what is the

          4  point? And I have said to you that our efforts in

          5  the past, in my opinion, were not sufficient. The

          6  last three years for this particular exam, the one

          7  that I have been responsible for, is the one that I

          8  think has been a good effort, and we are hoping to

          9  get better numbers. The only way to do that is to

         10  have it keep going in an ongoing program.

         11                 So, what is the point of holding

         12  something up and saying, you know what this is? Do

         13  you know what that is? Of course we know we have a

         14  recruitment program at the Department for years. If

         15  it wasn't good enough, it wasn't good enough. Now we

         16  are trying to improve it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I will tell

         18  you what the point is, that it has been going on for

         19  a lot of years, and that you are saying that the

         20  efforts that this Department put forward is

         21  satisfactory, and I just want it on the record that

         22  you are saying that you think that what has come

         23  forward as a result of this improvement is

         24  satisfactory, that the results of this recruitment

         25  will lead to a department that is more diverse and
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          2  more reflective of the City, that is your statement

          3  and I want it to get on the record that you are

          4  saying that you are okay with that, because at the

          5  end of the day when you look at the numbers six

          6  months from now, I want to make it clear that you

          7  are satisfied with those numbers six months from now

          8  or a year from now or whenever that time comes, that

          9  is the point.

         10                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, take

         11  your finger and your point and get it right at

         12  least, okay? Your point and your finger, at least

         13  get it right.

         14                 What I said to you, Mr. Chairman,

         15  was, I don't think we are going to have the number

         16  that we wish we did.

         17                 You asked me if my effort was

         18  satisfactory, I think it was. I think we did a

         19  terrific job, for lots of other reasons that might

         20  not show the numbers we are looking for, and that is

         21  what I said. And I said I think that if we keep it

         22  going, the level of effort that we have given this

         23  past three and a half years, if we keep that going

         24  and we continue to mentor all of these kids and have

         25  more exams, that then we will have a better number,
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          2  not that we will get them next July 1st when you

          3  have your next meeting. I think that is what I said.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Yes, I think that

          5  is what you said.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Let me ask

          7  him a follow -- another question, in a different

          8  area.

          9                 How important do you consider the

         10  five-point residency -- extra points for residency

         11  requirement?

         12                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I think that

         13  Commissioner Safir put it in just to try and make

         14  some difference in the middle of an exam, and I

         15  think that it has helped get us more City residents.

         16  I think it has a lot of weaknesses because it was

         17  easy to get around, and I think a lot of people that

         18  weren't City residents benefitted by it.

         19                 But it did give five points and a leg

         20  up to a lot of City residents, legitimate City

         21  residents who got the five points. I think it is

         22  very important.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: You think

         24  some people got around it. How did they get around

         25  it? How do you think that they may have gotten
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          2  around it?

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I think that

          4  people from other areas all over Long Island and

          5  upstate established their illegal residence, got a

          6  phone number, moved in with aunt whatever and

          7  established a residency, and got the residency

          8  points.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: So what

         10  have you done to change that?

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: This time we

         12  have made it for a year, and I think that that is

         13  all we are really allowed to do, where you have to

         14  establish that residency for a year, it will be a

         15  little bit easier for us to check. It will be a

         16  little bit harder for somebody who will get this

         17  credit that doesn't deserve it, and it is the best

         18  we can do without legal residency which we don't

         19  have the right to do that. I mean, that is bigger

         20  than the Fire Department. We don't have a legal

         21  residency requirement.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: What effort

         23  have you put forward with the residencies? How many

         24  investigators do you have that are going out and

         25  checking this information?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I think it is

          3  a little premature to be checking on those things,

          4  we haven't even finished the physical yet. We might

          5  as well see who is on the list before we disqualify

          6  somebody for a phony residency. Why would we do that

          7  now?

          8                 We just established, I think the date

          9  is August 1999 until August 2000, so why would we

         10  check now? Why wouldn't we wait until August of

         11  2000?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: So, from

         13  August of '99 to August of 2000 they have to be

         14  residents?

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes. To get

         16  that five credits, five points.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: And it is

         18  going to take you from when to get through the

         19  physical?

         20                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: They just

         21  said the physical will hopefully be completed by

         22  April.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: By April.

         24  So you are thinking that some time after April, that

         25  is when the list will be put together, so maybe May
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          2  or June you start checking to see if the residency

          3  which ends that August, people kept that residency,

          4  that is when they get investigators to go check on

          5  those people to see if they live there; is that what

          6  you are saying?

          7                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: That is

          9  what I heard.

         10                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I don't know

         11  what your problem is, to tell you the truth.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I don't

         13  have a problem, sir.

         14                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No, you

         15  obviously have a problem, I don't know what it is.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I have a

         17  problem with the Department going out there and

         18  pretending that they make --

         19                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We are not

         20  pretending.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I am going

         22  to answer the question.

         23                 I have a problem with this Department

         24  coming here, I have had three meetings, I have had

         25  different hearings, I have a problem with this
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          2  Department coming here and giving us all this

          3  testimony and suggesting that they are making

          4  efforts and when we ask the tough questions, asking

          5  me what my problem is. That is the problem.

          6                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No. I will

          7  answer the tough question, but it seems like a

          8  ridiculous question. You are asking me to check on

          9  residency that is established from August of '99, it

         10  is now in September of '99, why would I go out and

         11  check residency? Why wouldn't I wait for a

         12  reasonable amount of time to see when someone is a

         13  legitimate resident? Why wouldn't I wait to see if

         14  he had passed the physical? Why wouldn't I wait to

         15  see what his list number so I don't go investigating

         16  people that are going to come out number 9,000 on

         17  the list? Why wouldn't I wait until I had some idea

         18  where he is on the list before I checked his

         19  residency?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: When will

         21  you have this list?

         22                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I just told

         23  you I will find out from DCAS, that is one of those

         24  many things that I am going to DCAS to get the

         25  answers for.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: When do you

          3  expect to have this list?

          4                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: When DCAS

          5  gives it to me. They will have a physical that will

          6  finish in April and then they will start putting

          7  together a big job of whoever passed that physical

          8  establishing a list, that is what they do.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: You think

         10  it will take them a month or two to get the list?

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Of course it

         12  takes more than a month to have a list of 15,000 on

         13  it that they have to go through.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: So you are

         15  going to start checking residences after the fact

         16  that they no longer have to be a resident there; is

         17  that accurate? Is that what you are telling me?

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I didn't say

         19  that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: You are

         21  saying April, you are saying May, June and so if you

         22  --

         23                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: If you --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Can I ask

         25  the question?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Sorry.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: You are

          4  saying April, then you are saying it is going to

          5  extend to June before you get the list, but they

          6  only have to be a legal resident until August 1st,

          7  which means you have one month to check residences

          8  while people are living there; is that what you are

          9  saying? I just want to check that.

         10                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No, I am

         11  trying to say that your whole logic makes no sense.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Oh, mine

         13  doesn't make sense?

         14                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         15                 Why wouldn't --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Let me see if I

         17  can clarify --

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Mr. Chair,

         19  let me just answer this question.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Let me, maybe you

         21  are not understanding what he is saying.

         22                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: If you are

         24  looking from the point of August to August --

         25                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: You have to

          3  maintain a one-year residency.

          4                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And if you don't

          6  expect the exam or the list from DCAS until

          7  somewhere around maybe June --

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I didn't say

          9  that. I don't know when that list from DCAS comes. I

         10  said the physical hopefully is finished in April and

         11  then DCAS works on giving you a list. I don't know

         12  how long that takes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Reasonably it is

         14  going to take a couple of months, so if it is

         15  finished in April you are talking about June, and

         16  then you are going to begin checking for the

         17  residency, and I think what Council Member Rodriguez

         18  was alluding to was that some of that residency

         19  check may come after that August point and are we

         20  letting people off the hook? Say the investigator

         21  doesn't get around to them until September, or

         22  October, are you letting people off the hook in

         23  terms of the residency check.

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Okay, I

         25  understand. I think there are lots of ways to check
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          2  residency. People have to have established a

          3  residence. They have to have bills from an apartment

          4  or from a home that they lived in, they are going to

          5  have to have people in the building that they lived

          6  in testify that they live there. So, I don't think

          7  there is any way of getting a list of every person

          8  checked with residency before August of 2000.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: I understand

         10  that, but the way I understand the time frame, I

         11  have to live in a particular location from August to

         12  August, you guys haven't gotten there, September I

         13  split, I still have my bill from July, June and

         14  August and I present that as maintaining residency,

         15  do I get through the cracks; that is the question.

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I am sure

         17  there will be people that get through that crack.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: But the thing

         19  that we need to look at, are you maintaining your

         20  residency, maybe past the point of that one-year

         21  period, so that if your investigator doesn't get

         22  there until October, that you are still looking for

         23  that person to be a resident in October to qualify

         24  for the bonus points.

         25                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Unfortunately
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          2  I don't think I even have the right to do that. I

          3  don't think this person has to be in that house next

          4  October if I get there to check on his residency. He

          5  has to prove to me that he was a resident from this

          6  date from this year, there is no way for me to get

          7  around that.

          8                 I mean, I agree, I wish I had a list

          9  today. Councilman Rodriguez is right, I wish I had a

         10  list today that I could start this residency check.

         11  I don't. So it makes no sense to start checking on

         12  all of these people right now. I mean, if I knew

         13  where they are on a list, you can start. But I don't

         14  think it is possible to start until we have

         15  something --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Maybe we need to

         17  review the process of how that is implemented.

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Okay, maybe

         19  there is a better way of doing that, and maybe we

         20  should start checking on them now, at least

         21  spot-checking.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Council Member

         23  Perkins.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         25  very much, Mr. Chairman. Commissioner, I just want
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          2  to address a prejudice or two that you represented

          3  as you were talking that I think may influence the

          4  manner in which you do your job, or especially you

          5  do your recruiting.

          6                 You said on more than one occasion

          7  that you have to let these people know how good this

          8  job is. That is off because most African-American,

          9  Latino people know how good this job is. You know,

         10  we grow up knowing that this is a good job. So, the

         11  problem is not that we don't know that this is a

         12  good job, and the problem is not you trying to train

         13  us or teach us on the value of this job, the problem

         14  is that this job is generally perceived to be, if

         15  you will, young white men's only club. In fact, it

         16  may be the last young white men's only club in the

         17  City. And people are not pursuing it because they

         18  realize that is the sign on the door, whether it is

         19  explicitly, you know, graphically that way or not.

         20  So, you have to really understand what you are

         21  dealing with. You are not dealing with the people

         22  who are ignorant about the value about a civil

         23  service job, particularly with regard to the Fire

         24  Department. Your challenge is to convince people

         25  that they are welcome to become firemen, to become
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          2  fire-women, whether they are women, whether they are

          3  black, whether they are Latino, whether they are

          4  Asian or whatever.

          5                 Part of that challenge to some extent

          6  I think has to be addressed in the line that Ronnie

          7  Eldridge was pursuing, which is that given that you

          8  have such a scarcity of African-American Latino

          9  women et cetera in the leadership, which tends to

         10  project to everybody what opportunities there are,

         11  if all you see are white men in leadership, then you

         12  assume, well, this must be for white men only. If

         13  you see people of color in leadership, then you

         14  might say, gee, that is somebody that I can relate

         15  to and therefore, maybe I should try to be that

         16  myself.

         17                 Now, I know that there are some

         18  suggestions sometimes that given something called

         19  affirmative action that what we are trying to do is

         20  lower standards or changed rules. No. Because we

         21  know that affirmative action or discretion is used

         22  all the time with these civil service lists, that is

         23  why they were designed. They are management tools

         24  that allow you to decide based on what your needs

         25  are who they are qualified to be best suitable for
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          2  the job, the one in three that Council Member Robles

          3  was alluding to. Given the fact that you have a

          4  serious credibility problem in the community because

          5  you have such an all white force of firefighters,

          6  especially in the leadership, part of your problem

          7  is not simply recruiting the best but doing a

          8  balance so that people don't feel that it is an all

          9  white job.

         10                 So, given two candidates of equal

         11  qualifications in the objective sense of skills and

         12  whatever, one happens to be of color, female maybe,

         13  and the other happens to be not, it would seem to me

         14  that you would use your administrative good

         15  judgment, considering the problem that you have of

         16  diversifying your force to choose a person, whether

         17  they are two or three since they are basically

         18  equal, there is hardly a difference between one, two

         19  and three, we know that. You would choose that in

         20  order to solve that problem, wouldn't you?

         21                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That is the

         23  problem, because, see, you don't --

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Let me

         25  respond. You said three different things. You said
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          2  you had three different criticisms, and let me

          3  respond to all three of them.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

          5                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: One, I agree

          6  with you that the perception from an awful lot of

          7  people in this City is that this is a white men's

          8  club, I agree with that, and we are trying to change

          9  that perception by doing a better job recruiting, by

         10  getting people out there to make folks understand

         11  that this job is not hostile, that it is a nice

         12  place to work --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me just

         14  put a pin in there for a second.

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Help me

         17  understand something, okay? I just want to help you

         18  get through what I think is a prejudice that you

         19  have and may not recognize.

         20                 Your job has to say to people, a

         21  black person is welcome here, a Latino person is

         22  welcome here, a woman is welcome here, not that you

         23  are going to get a good salary, because folks know

         24  that. Not that you are going to get a good benefit,

         25  because folks know that. Not that you are going to
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          2  get good benefits because folks know that. That is

          3  why we know we can't get in there because it is so

          4  good. But if you are not prepared to say that, if

          5  all you are going to tell people is about the salary

          6  and the benefits and all of that, then you are not

          7  doing anything to get people to understand that they

          8  are welcome, because everybody knows that. We know

          9  that from the time we are in elementary school and

         10  we start visiting these places. We know that because

         11  we grow up wanting to be firemen, that's the given.

         12  We grow up wanting to be policemen, we grow up

         13  wanting these civil service jobs, we know what the

         14  value of a civil service job is, without even having

         15  to go get educated, without a recruitment effort.

         16  Kids in this City grow up knowing where the money is

         17  and where these jobs are from a Civil Service point

         18  of view.

         19                 What they need to learn from you, in

         20  your leadership capacity and with the goodness of

         21  your heart, is that they are welcome in this

         22  Department. And if you can say that to them

         23  explicitly - black youth, come up here and get a job

         24  with us, we want you in here, Latino youth come up

         25  here and get a job because we want you in here,
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          2  women come and get a job because we want you - if

          3  you can't say that, then you are playing a game.

          4                 And that is the problem because, see,

          5  folks want to think that we want you to lower the

          6  standards, we want to play by the same rules and we

          7  don't want to be left out because of our skin color,

          8  because of our sexual preference or whatever, so

          9  that is the problem you have.

         10                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Let me try to

         11  respond, there are three different issues.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Like I said,

         14  I agree with you on that. I think that our

         15  recruiters are doing that, when they go out and talk

         16  to the kids, they are not going out and talking

         17  about the benefits, they are not talking just about

         18  the pension and the salary, they are trying to make

         19  them feel that this job is friendly to them and they

         20  are welcome in the Department. I really believe that

         21  that is happening. Has it happened enough over the

         22  last 20 years? Probably not, we would have better

         23  numbers. All I am trying to say to you is I believe

         24  that is happening now. That is one criticism. I

         25  believe that you are right on it, but we are trying
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          2  to make a difference.

          3                 The other one you talked about

          4  leadership. I am not saying that that person was

          5  number three, and was not as good as the person who

          6  was number one and two, or he wouldn't be as good a

          7  fire officer as number one and two. I just disagree

          8  with you on making a decision to pass over one

          9  person to reach somebody because he is a minority,

         10  just to solve my problem of diversification.

         11                 I believe I would have a much greater

         12  problem in this Department, which is the best Fire

         13  Department in the world, in regards to leadership,

         14  if the people in the field knew that this person had

         15  been appointed over someone else who studied just as

         16  hard, maybe a little bit harder and scored a little

         17  bit better on a test, I won't do that. So there we

         18  disagree.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All of you do

         20  that. The reason you want as managers, you have

         21  fought for the one in three rule, is to have that

         22  discretion to choose the third person instead of the

         23  first person for some peculiar reason that makes

         24  sense administratively and managerially. That is the

         25  reason for it.
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          2                 And if you decided that even though

          3  this person had a better score and he was number

          4  one, but really this other kind of person had other

          5  kind of qualities, other qualifications, other kind

          6  of background experience, then you were given the

          7  option to do that. And you didn't care if that

          8  number one person had a better score. I know that

          9  for a fact because I have been there, do you

         10  understand what I am saying? That is the reason why

         11  you were given that discretion. Now you are telling

         12  me you won't use that for affirmative action, you

         13  won't use that for the sake of balancing the

         14  diversity -- in other words, you have one battalion

         15  chief in this whole City that is black.

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No, that is

         17  not true.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How many do

         19  you have?

         20                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We have four.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You have

         22  four. You have four Hispanics? How many Hispanics do

         23  you have?

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I think five

         25  Hispanics and four black battalion chiefs.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And you don't

          3  think that you need to use some discretion to fix

          4  that?

          5                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I will not do

          6  that. I won't do that to a battalion chief because

          7  of a minority issue.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am not

          9  telling you to lower any standards now. You see you

         10  are putting this minority issue out there -- first

         11  of all, the word minority bothers me, but I will let

         12  you use it because that's what is said.

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: That is what

         14  you are telling me to do. You are telling me to --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am not

         16  telling you to do that.

         17                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes, you are.

         18  You are saying --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am telling

         20  you your job, the faith of the community in you is

         21  very, very important and you don't have that faith

         22  when you have an all white force. And if you don't

         23  have the faith of the community, you know, there is

         24  another fire-person that works with you and that is

         25  called the community, if you don't have that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            106

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  community, then you have a problem. The same problem

          3  that you have with the Police Department, and you

          4  have to use that discretion in order to overcome

          5  that problem.

          6                 You have decided you won't use it, so

          7  I accept that.

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We disagree

          9  again. I believe we have the faith of the community,

         10  okay? I believe that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Commissioner, I

         12  think I am getting confused now.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: One final

         14  question.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Let me just clear

         16  this up, my colleague --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Because earlier

         19  you said, and correct me if I am wrong, that at the

         20  entry level you use one and three, at the officer

         21  level, that would be lieutenant and the rank above

         22  lieutenant, you don't use the one and three, and

         23  then for your chiefs you use the one and three.

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I said to you

         25  that I believe in the one and three for the chiefs.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay.

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I don't

          4  believe that you should pass over a qualified,

          5  competent person to go past that person to reach

          6  somebody else. I said that I believe in the one and

          7  three because not everybody has the skills that you

          8  need to be a chief. There are lots of other skills

          9  besides pure firefighting and fire house leadership

         10  skills.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: I understand

         12  that. I come out of management so I appreciate the

         13  one and three, the discretion that a manager does

         14  have, I am not debating it. We are just trying to

         15  find out when you use it and when you will not use

         16  it, and I think that is the issue that Council

         17  Member Perkins was trying to ascertain from you.

         18                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Okay, I am in

         19  dangerous territory so I will say it again. I really

         20  believe it is necessary for the manager to have that

         21  right. I believe I will use it for candidates. I

         22  won't use it for a fire officer or a lieutenant or

         23  captain, unless this person is a really bad

         24  candidate. And with a battalion chief, I think you

         25  have to say this person is not a bad candidate, but
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          2  he doesn't have all of the qualities that you need

          3  for that next level of leadership in the Department

          4  to help you run the Department. I am trying to say

          5  to you I don't believe it should be used to pass

          6  over somebody who has studied just as hard as that

          7  person, pass them over on a list to reach somebody

          8  for other reasons. I don't think that is right.

          9                 I know it is my right and I know

         10  managers have fought for that right, and now I am a

         11  manager but I have a problem with that one.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Please continue,

         13  Councilman.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I can imagine

         15  why.

         16                 Let me ask you this, I want to be

         17  clear about something: The psychological evaluation

         18  that is done, that is a DCAS thing also?

         19                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: The

         20  psychological is part of the medical examination

         21  that the Fire Department does.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The Fire

         23  Department background check, who handles that?

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: The

         25  background check is done by personnel, by the
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          2  Department of Personnel.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. How

          4  many black or Latino people are women or others of

          5  color are involved in that process? Because

          6  sometimes the prejudice that eliminates people takes

          7  place there.

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well, like I

          9  said before, you have to be fair. There is only one

         10  person, I am told, in a minority involved in that

         11  process.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: One out of

         13  how many?

         14                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Seven. One

         15  out of seven is a minority. But the only people that

         16  are automatically disqualified at that level is a

         17  felon, a person who committed a felony, or a person

         18  who was dishonorably discharged or failed the

         19  medical or psychological. So, it is pretty objective

         20  rather than subjective.

         21                 It gets subjective when it goes to

         22  the panel that I invited you to participate in when

         23  we look at problems that the person, the individual

         24  had in the course of his younger years.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How is that
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          2  panel that you are talking about composed?

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: That panel is

          4  composed of eight people, fire chiefs, Deputy

          5  Commissioners, Chief of Personnel.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How many are

          7  so-called minorities?

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: One person

          9  is, one woman and one black out of the eight.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

         11  So, the people who have this -- you don't have

         12  enough there either it looks like.

         13                 All right, thank you very much. I

         14  appreciate it.

         15                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: One more

         17  follow-up, because I got confused again.

         18                 You said the DCAS panel will only

         19  eliminate someone who has a felony?

         20                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Not DCAS.

         21  Within the Fire Department Bureau of Personnel,

         22  they, when they start their investigations, if their

         23  record shows up that that person had a felony or a

         24  dishonorable discharge, they eliminate them.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Right. And you
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          2  also said if they fail the medical or the

          3  psychological.

          4                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Or the

          5  psychological. That is the Fire Department, medical

          6  and psychological also.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Tell me about the

          8  psychological.

          9                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: What

         10  Councilman?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I just wanted

         12  to -- the Chairman asked about the psychological,

         13  what is the psychological?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: That is what I

         15  want to get a sense of.

         16                 I understand medical. You know,

         17  either you have a condition or you don't, but the

         18  psychological, and being a graduate of the School of

         19  Psychology I know that it could be somewhat

         20  subjective, depending on who is doing the data.

         21                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: I can give

         22  you the specifics of the psychological examination.

         23  I don't know what they are. I assume that they are

         24  trying to find someone who is not a deranged lunatic

         25  and is not looking to become a firefighter and start
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          2  fires and, you know, just a basic psychological

          3  examination. But I can get you the specifics of it.

          4  I really don't know --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Again, when you

          6  are looking at people from different cultures and

          7  you do a psychological, there are varying things

          8  that can come into play that can skew the results.

          9                 For example, if I were to talk to you

         10  about say sneakers, you would say, well, that is a

         11  pair of running shoes. If I am talking to someone of

         12  Jamaican origin about sneakers, she is talking about

         13  a thief. And, so, we want to make sure that whoever

         14  is doing the psychological is looking at it in an

         15  objective fashion and that the results that are

         16  coming out are objective and that they are taking

         17  into account the culture of the individual that they

         18  are analyzing.

         19                 One follow-up question and then we

         20  want to let you go.

         21                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Councilman,

         22  just let Lynn answer that.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: I think

         24  it is important as we started out we talked about

         25  understanding the universe we are discussing here,
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          2  and we are looking at the last test from which

          3  people were appointed, and if you look at the last

          4  test from which people were appointed and you look

          5  at people who were turned down, you had a total of

          6  12 candidates out of all of the candidates that

          7  were, out of 212 minorities were eligible on that

          8  list, 168 were appointed, 14 were ruled

          9  non-qualified for medical reasons, that includes

         10  medical and psychological.

         11                 The point is that if you -- to go on,

         12  23 were ruled non-qualified because of

         13  investigations, seven declining the appointment, 168

         14  were appointed. The vast majority of the people are

         15  appointed to the job, 80 percent of them. We are

         16  talking about 12 people, and of those 12 people they

         17  were ruled out for medical reasons.  Without going

         18  into each case specifically, you don't know what

         19  those medical reasons were. So, the focus on the

         20  psychological, I think when you look at the real

         21  numbers, the real numbers are out of 212 people you

         22  are talking about 14 people that were ruled out for

         23  medical reasons.

         24                 So, I think the numbers are very

         25  small and I think it has taken on a life of its own

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            114

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  in this discussion but I think if we deal with these

          3  numbers it is an important point.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Council Member

          5  Marshall.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL:

          7  Unfortunately and sadly, when I read about firemen

          8  that have been killed in the line of duty and I

          9  have, by the way, both in the State Legislature I

         10  did support legislation that would help the widows

         11  of the firemen, especially those who were killed in

         12  the line of duty, and I received wonderful letters

         13  from their widows. When we read about it in the

         14  newspaper we note that the person who died is the

         15  son of a fireman. He has a brother who is also a

         16  fireman. A family tradition has developed, and

         17  within that family tradition, information and data

         18  about being a fireman gives them a little edge on

         19  passing the test. That is my opinion, and I have

         20  seen that over and over again. Rarely ever do we

         21  read about a fireman who does not come from a

         22  firefighting family, and unfortunately most of them

         23  don't live in our City and most of them are not

         24  minorities.

         25                 I also offered a training program

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            115

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  with a former fire chief in one of my other lives as

          3  director of a manpower center on Northern Boulevard

          4  in Corona, and some of the first women to apply for

          5  the Department came out of that class. Chief

          6  Goldstein, who was not Jewish, he happened to be an

          7  African-American, but he gave the class to mostly

          8  black and Latino students who were interested in

          9  becoming firemen. Those women, and it is very

         10  important and I am happy to see two women here

         11  today, I don't know if this lady is also a

         12  firefighter, that is very encouraging, but there are

         13  few women also in the Fire Department. And certainly

         14  there are few minorities. This young man on the end

         15  happens to be a product from my community. Raise you

         16  hand so everybody knows who you are. I have other

         17  firemen in my community too, mostly emulating from

         18  Chief Goldstein giving that class and helping them,

         19  enabling them to pass the examination.

         20                 It can be done, it can be done, and I

         21  don't know why there are so many barriers that keep

         22  us, some of these figures, in fact from what we see

         23  in our notes from our staff, that you have the

         24  lowest amount of minorities than any of the other

         25  four leading departments in the country. New York
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          2  can't afford to be that way.

          3                 If we are short-tempered, and some of

          4  my colleagues are about it, there is a concern

          5  because it seems like we are not getting any place.

          6  All of us get to know our firemen because they are

          7  doing a very important service in our community, and

          8  I know that it is much easier to recruit minorities

          9  to become firemen, then it is to recruit them to

         10  become policemen. Although the police far out-number

         11  firefighters, as far as minorities are concerned.

         12                 To be a firemen it is not a

         13  threatening job, it is a welcoming job, you know

         14  that you are saving people, it is a different kind

         15  of existence. But yet we see these low figures.

         16                 We are really asking you,

         17  Commissioner, to give us your all, and we can't just

         18  use procedural things, we have got to really get out

         19  there and recruit. And there are many places in the

         20  community where this kind of training can take place

         21  and can help people pass this exam.

         22                 I am not on this Committee, but I

         23  wanted to take the opportunity to be able to say

         24  that to you publicly, because it is absolutely

         25  essential.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Council Member

          4  Rodriguez.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: This is

          6  just a follow-up question. Let me see if I

          7  understand this correctly. So you take the physical

          8  and you take the written test and you get on a list,

          9  and then once you get on that list, to get on that

         10  list there is no discretion, there are these seven

         11  or eight people that knock you off before you get on

         12  that list?

         13                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN:

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: You get on

         15  that list, and then these seven or eight people, as

         16  they get to your name or your number, then they get

         17  a chance to say you either had a felony or something

         18  happened that knocked you off the list.

         19                 So, they get to me and I didn't have

         20  a felony and I am still on this list, now who has a

         21  chance to knock me off the list? Tell me about this

         22  panel.

         23                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Okay. No, the

         24  panel is the last piece, Councilman. There is a

         25  written test and a physical and now you are on a
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          2  list. Now, you become investigated. The Department

          3  of Personnel and the Fire Department days, you had a

          4  felony, you are off the list. You had a dishonorable

          5  discharge, you are off the list. He failed the

          6  physical or the medical or the psychological, you

          7  are off the list.

          8                 Now they say, and all of these other

          9  people just continue to get called off the list. If

         10  you have, you know, you have an unblemished record,

         11  which is the way it is with most people, so now you

         12  have a small group of people, I would say in the

         13  course of the year -- in the course of the year

         14  maybe this group of consideration cases that comes

         15  in front of us, and don't hold me to this number but

         16  I would think it is maybe 100 people, and then this

         17  group looked at that group, and then this group says

         18  give this guy or give this person another chance, he

         19  had a DWI when he was 17, he is 27 years old now, he

         20  has had no problems along the way, hire him. This

         21  guy just had a DWI last month, he has had one two

         22  years ago, one three years ago, we don't want to get

         23  involved, he has obviously got a drinking problem,

         24  don't hire him.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: So now the
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          2  people that get this consideration which you called

          3  it, the people that get consideration are people

          4  that were knocked off the list?

          5                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Everyone

          7  who gets knocked off the list goes to this panel?

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: No.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Who goes to

         10  this panel?

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: If you are

         12  off the list, you are off the list. Those are the

         13  people, the felonies or dishonorable discharges.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: They are

         15  gone.

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Everybody

         17  else is either hired or given to this panel. This

         18  small group, it is a small group compared to this

         19  total.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: That is

         21  what I was driving at. So before I can get knocked

         22  off, once I get past that first stage, I have to go

         23  before this panel?

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Every
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          2  single person on that list goes before this panel?

          3                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Every single

          4  person that has a problem and it is not as serious

          5  as a felony that was already put off the list, goes

          6  in front of that panel.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay, and

          8  that is the panel that determines whether or not I

          9  can still stay on the list?

         10                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay, the

         12  discretion on the part of this panel, now how many

         13  people were knocked off from that, you said 12

         14  minority people you said? How many people were in

         15  total?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: The list

         17  has 2,243 appointments. The breakdown -- and that is

         18  off of a list of 7,000, 8,000 people. Of the people

         19  on that list, the people who were not appointed is

         20  1,294. Of those people, 834 declined to be processed

         21  of 1,200. 834 declined to be processed. There were

         22  460 people left who were not appointed. 117 of those

         23  people declined the position, 118 of those people

         24  were medically non-qualified, and 225 of those

         25  people were found not qualified because they had
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          2  felony --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: They should

          4  have been off before they got to the list, shouldn't

          5  they have been? And the ones that were medically

          6  unqualified should have been before they got to that

          7  list also, right?

          8                 And this is the same thing as the

          9  personnel review board? We are talking about the

         10  same thing?

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: You have

         13  the numbers now?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: Of those

         15  numbers, 225 were found not qualified, some of those

         16  225 were sent to DOP as not qualified, some of those

         17  came up and would come before that panel.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Do we have

         19  a breakdown of those 225 people, do we know how many

         20  were minorities, how many were not?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: Yes.

         22                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: We can give

         23  you that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: How many?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: 202 were

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            122

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  white, nine were black.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Right.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TIERNEY: Twelve

          5  were Hispanic. And two were Asian.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Just one more

          8  point, because I still want to be sure in my head

          9  how this panel reviews.

         10                 There is a case that came into my

         11  office, a young man, took the test, passed the test,

         12  he had gotten some parking tickets when he was a

         13  teenager. Through the years he has paid off his

         14  parking ticket, he has been knocked off the list.

         15  What caused that?

         16                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Well,

         17  unfortunately you maybe got part of it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay.

         19                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: And I would

         20  love for you to give me his name, or you come and

         21  look at his folder and we will take a look at that.

         22                 I mean, if this candidate had ten

         23  parking tickets over the course of his last seven

         24  years as a driver, this person would have been

         25  taken. Now, what he is not telling you is, some of
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          2  the parking tickets might have been for driving with

          3  no license for two years, for having an accident

          4  that happened -- you know, some time you don't get

          5  the whole story.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: I am well aware

          7  of that.

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: So, we have

          9  all been through that.

         10                 I mean, a person with a couple of

         11  parking tickets gets passed, you know, it is just

         12  the way it is.

         13                 We take some people that we shouldn't

         14  take, in my opinion, but we say, oh, give him a

         15  chance, he has had seven years, he has done a good

         16  job with his new employer, no complaints. We call

         17  his boss, his boss said it is already straightened

         18  out, we give him a chance. And sometimes we are

         19  disappointed and sometimes we are not.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Okay, let me

         21  thank you for coming. I am sure we are going to

         22  remain in close contact. Try and get the information

         23  that we have requested back to us.

         24                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Okay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: I will arrange to
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          2  participate in that panel and we will look.

          3                 Because there is one thing, and I

          4  have said this publicly, that you are committed to

          5  improving the situation, and I want to thank you for

          6  that. It is just that we will work closely together

          7  to find out how we are going to do it.

          8                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 COMMISSIONER VON ESSEN: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Mr. Cornelius,

         13  from the Manhattan Borough President's Office,

         14  Office of C. Virginia Fields.

         15                 MR. CORNELIUS: Good afternoon, Mr.

         16  Chairman. I am going to give a brief statement on

         17  behalf of C. Virginia Fields, Manhattan Borough

         18  President.

         19                 Mr. Chairman, members of the

         20  Committee. All New Yorkers sincerely appreciate the

         21  dedication and heroism of our City's firefighters

         22  and the tremendous work the Department does in fire

         23  suppression and fire prevention.

         24                 The Fire Department must, however,

         25  improve its performance in one very important and
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          2  visible area, the area of recruiting, hiring, and

          3  promoting women, African-American, Latino and Asian

          4  New Yorkers.

          5                 The lack of diversity in the Fire

          6  Department is pronounced. African-Americans,

          7  Latinos, and Asian-Americans make up more than 60

          8  percent of New York City's population but the Fire

          9  Department remains more than 90 percent white.

         10                 This is unacceptable. As you know, I

         11  strongly support state legislation that would

         12  re-establish a residency requirement for all

         13  uniformed services in New York City, including the

         14  Fire Department.

         15                 A residency law would help improve

         16  the diversity of the Fire Department. The Fire

         17  Department must also continue to demonstrate a

         18  genuine commitment to diversity and recruitment in

         19  hiring. The Department must identify the policies

         20  and practices that discourage non-white candidates

         21  from a fine, and also review any factors that may

         22  inadvertently or unfairly impede the hiring and

         23  promotion of firefighters of color.

         24                 A Daily News report on Sunday

         25  suggested that African-American and Latino and
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          2  Asian-American Fire Department applicants are

          3  disproportionately disqualified from what appear to

          4  be questionable and highly subjective reasons.

          5                 A more diverse and representative

          6  Fire Department would, I am certain, increase the

          7  already immense pride that New Yorkers feel for our

          8  Fire Department.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 MR. CORNELIUS: Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Paul Washington,

         14  Vulcan Society.

         15                 Please identify yourself for the

         16  record, as well as your colleague.

         17                 MR. WASHINGTON: My name is Paul

         18  Washington, I am the President of the Vulcan

         19  Society, the organization of New York City's black

         20  firefighters.

         21                 To my left is First Vice President

         22  Larry Brown, and to my right, Second Vice President,

         23  Mike Marshall.

         24                 Good afternoon, City Councilman, and

         25  the guests assembled.
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          2                 I just want to say first, this is

          3  about the third time we have addressed the City

          4  Council over the last year on this issue, so I

          5  believe everybody is pretty well versed on our

          6  opinions of the Fire Department, so we will just be

          7  brief.

          8                 There are a few issues I want to

          9  touch on. One is the main issue that we spoke about

         10  in terms of recruitment in the Fire Department. To

         11  put it simply, recruitment effort that the Fire

         12  Department puts out is a joke. It's pitiful. Their

         13  recruitment effort is extremely poor. There is

         14  really no need to go into it to pick apart what they

         15  are and what they aren't doing, so I will just

         16  briefly mention a few things.

         17                 They love to ballyhooed this Cadet

         18  Program that they have. To date, zero cadets have

         19  become firefighters. This Cadet program has been in

         20  existence for at least three or four years and zero

         21  cadets have become firefighters.

         22                 The five points that they love to

         23  talk about, what a change this is going to make,

         24  that five points has been extremely ineffective, as

         25  the Commissioner himself alluded to candidates who
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          2  live outside of New York City, Staten Island, New

          3  York State or what have you, they easily get those

          4  five points credit, so it is at almost no impact in

          5  the numbers of blacks coming onto, blacks and other

          6  people of color coming on to the job.

          7                 Some of the other things they

          8  mentioned, they love to talk about they go to

          9  churches, the Commissioner and others go to churches

         10  and they are recruiting at churches. Well, it is

         11  kind of disingenuous on one hand to be going to a

         12  church, no matter how big the church is, whether it

         13  is Reverend Flake's church in Queens, or Calvin

         14  Butts' church in Harlem, and stand in front of the

         15  people saying, yes, we want more blacks to become

         16  firefighters, at the same time you make it extremely

         17  difficult economically and educationally to become a

         18  firefighter.

         19                 Today to become a firefighter, for

         20  this last test that was given, you had to pay $35 to

         21  take the test, to sit down and take the written

         22  test, the physical test that is coming up is going

         23  to be another charge for that. You have to pay $50

         24  to get fingerprinted as the process goes on. You

         25  have to be CFRD certified in order to get the job,
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          2  in order to get the certification, it is going to

          3  cost at least $300, $400. If you don't have college

          4  credits, you have to now have 30 college credits or

          5  three years in the military. If you don't have those

          6  college credits, it is going to cost thousands of

          7  dollars to get that education. So this whole process

          8  will easily cost you hundreds of dollars, possibly

          9  thousands of dollars to now become a firefighter,

         10  whereas when I took the test in 1983 it was a

         11  one-time $15 fee, was all you paid. You paid $15 to

         12  get on the job. And before that it was free. The

         13  whole application process was free, as was the City

         14  University systems, it was free. So now a candidate

         15  has to have a whole lot of money, as well as the

         16  desire and so on to become a firefighter.

         17                 The people that are running the Fire

         18  Department to date, all of the higher echelon

         19  chiefs, so on and so forth, when they came on the

         20  job you didn't need any of these requirements. It

         21  was unfair to put these same type of burdens now on

         22  a black kid who maybe doesn't have the money that

         23  others might.

         24                 Also, the recruitment efforts, they

         25  had approximately six recruiters during a crucial
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          2  time period of the application period, that is the

          3  most crucial time period. It is a six-week period

          4  and it was October of 1998, they had six recruiters

          5  on the street trying to get folks to take this test.

          6                 The Police Department, when they had

          7  their serious recruitment effort in 1993 under

          8  Commissioner Kelly, they went out and had a very

          9  good serious recruitment effort. They had almost 100

         10  black and Hispanic recruiters. Out on the street,

         11  almost 100. You compare that to six and you see

         12  where the Fire Department is coming from and see

         13  what their effort actually is.

         14                 Also, there has been an increase in

         15  the numbers of blacks who sat down, who applied for

         16  this last test and who sat down to take this last

         17  test, but any increase, we, the Vulcan Society could

         18  take a large measure of responsibility for that.

         19                 We went out and had our own

         20  recruitment program over the last few years, and

         21  this recruitment program was done on a volunteer

         22  effort, through the Vulcan Society members going out

         23  on the street on weekends and so on and so forth,

         24  and signing people up to take the test, and it was

         25  not only a volunteer effort, but the money that we
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          2  spent was minimal, maybe $15,000, $20,000 at the

          3  most, and we are responsible for almost half of the

          4  blacks who applied for this test. Almost half of

          5  them we can show came through our efforts, not the

          6  City's efforts, our efforts. So, whatever increases

          7  have occurred, a large part of it is due to our

          8  effort.

          9                 Now, if we can do that, we can almost

         10  match the City's recruitment effort with $15,000,

         11  again, that tells you they have no commitment

         12  through this recruitment effort.

         13                 Another thing I would like to point

         14  out is, the recruitment effort is normally, well

         15  usually it has been run by a black officer, officer

         16  or firefighter, and we have always sent our best and

         17  brightest to be this officer in charge of

         18  recruitment. We have done this for the last 15 years

         19  or so. And those people always come back, they go

         20  down there with the best on intentions, they are

         21  doing this from the heart, because we all want to

         22  come into the fire house and be in a more, an

         23  atmosphere that is more suited to us, you know that

         24  is just a more comfortable atmosphere. So, we send

         25  our best and brightest to run this recruitment
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          2  effort, and time and again they come back

          3  discouraged because the City does not give them the

          4  tools that they need to produce a good recruitment

          5  effort.

          6                 So, it is not the members, it is not

          7  the people themselves, the recruiters, or the people

          8  that are running the recruitment effort that is the

          9  problem. Well, that is about all I would like to say

         10  about the recruitment effort. The numbers speak for

         11  themselves and for the Fire Department to pretend

         12  that they are making an effort and to be satisfied

         13  with the effort is beyond me how they can say things

         14  of that nature.

         15                 Now, the second reason why the

         16  numbers of blacks and other people of color on the

         17  job is so low is because those that do apply for the

         18  job and those who do sit down and take the test get

         19  inordinately washed out. We get washed out of the

         20  rate that is much higher than it is for white

         21  candidates.

         22                 Okay, from the last test, the list

         23  that they are hiring from now, that test was given

         24  in 1992, approximately six percent of those who sat

         25  down to take the written test were black. Six
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          2  percent said they were black, more than likely it

          3  was seven or eight percent of those who sat down to

          4  take the written test were black.

          5                 We are coming on the job at a rate of

          6  two percent, so we are getting washed out from six

          7  percent all the way down to two percent. So, even if

          8  the Fire Department did a good job of recruiting,

          9  they got 30 percent of the people to apply to take

         10  the test, the people to sit down and take the test

         11  to be black, if the numbers were to hold true we

         12  would go all the way down to ten percent. That is

         13  how bad the washout rate is. If we would go from 30

         14  percent to ten percent, what is even the point of

         15  blacks even trying to get on to this job. And like

         16  Councilman Perkins mentioned, black people know

         17  clearly that the atmosphere in the Fire Department

         18  is not welcome any more, and they realize, and we

         19  know this from being on their street recruiting and

         20  talking to young black men and women, trying to

         21  interest them in the Fire Department, one of the

         22  first things that comes out of their mouth is I am

         23  not going to get that job. You know, they are not

         24  going to hire me. They will say that, they will look

         25  at us standing there in uniform, and they will say
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          2  to us, I am not going to get that job, they are not

          3  going to hire me. They will say that consistently,

          4  all right? And they realize we know that the numbers

          5  are very bad and how we get washed out of this

          6  system right now.

          7                 One of the biggest causes for this is

          8  the written test that is given.

          9                 The Fire Department gives a written

         10  test and a physical test, but most of the weight

         11  actually falls on the written test, because the

         12  physical test, most of the candidates, every

         13  candidate who is getting hired is getting 100, all

         14  right? It is a difficult test, but still most

         15  candidates manage to get 100 on its test so all of

         16  the weight falls on the written test. On this last

         17  test, if you didn't score a 96 or better, you are

         18  probably not going to get called to come and take

         19  the test.

         20                 Now, we know that on this test, there

         21  is no question about it, blacks do not do as good on

         22  this test as whites. We are not in the 99 97 96

         23  rank, we know that. Now, we would have no problem

         24  with this if the guy who got a  99 was going to be a

         25  better fireman than the guy who got a 94. But there
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          2  is not a person in this City who has ever fought a

          3  fire that will tell you that he had a guy with the

          4  high marks do better than the guy with the lower

          5  marks. There is no way in the world, even I am sure

          6  the Commissioner himself would agree that the higher

          7  mark does not mean you are going to be a better

          8  firefighter, there is no way. So why is that used as

          9  the criteria of if you get on the job or not.

         10                 If it meant you were going to be a

         11  better firefighter we would have no problem with it.

         12  But it doesn't. What that test does is eliminate

         13  blacks and other people of color to a very effective

         14  degree.

         15                 Now, the last written test was given

         16  for this upcoming list, it was given in February,

         17  and I am sure if the Fire Department was asked, they

         18  know exactly where blacks and other people of color

         19  have already failed on that written test, that is

         20  why when Commissioner Oddo (sic) said next year we

         21  could very well be in the same situation, we will be

         22  in the same situation next year. Next year we will

         23  be sitting here saying the same thing and the

         24  Commissioner will say I am proud of the people's

         25  effort and so on and so forth. But it is going to be
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          2  the same situation and that test goes a long way

          3  towards being one of those reasons.

          4                 Also, as the Daily News had indicated

          5  in last Sunday's edition, blacks are 33 percent more

          6  liable -- I am sorry, the so-called minorities, to

          7  use the Fire Department's term, the so-called

          8  minorities are 33 percent more likely to get stopped

          9  during the medical investigation or the background

         10  investigation than are white candidates, and that is

         11  the Fire Department's own numbers. And the Fire

         12  Department also likes to say minorities, as opposed

         13  to just blacks, because minorities makes the pool

         14  much bigger. If they were just to concentrate on

         15  blacks, I am sure it would be even much worse than

         16  33 percent, even from their own statistics. But that

         17  is another area where we are really losing out.

         18                 In terms of medicals, in terms of

         19  people being disqualified because of medical

         20  situations, it is almost twice as much minorities to

         21  whites, a minority person is almost twice as likely

         22  to be eliminated because of medical reasons than a

         23  white candidate.

         24                 And as Commissioner Tierney said, she

         25  said, well, we are only talking about 14, 15 people,
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          2  off of this last list the Fire Department has only

          3  hired 50 blacks. In the last four years they have

          4  hired 50 black people, so if you are talking about

          5  14, that is a big number when you only have 50

          6  coming on. So, it is kind of disingenuous to say,

          7  oh, there are only 14 when we have hired 2,000 or

          8  something, you only hired 50 blacks, okay?

          9                 So, what it comes down to is, unless

         10  there is some reason that whites are just innately

         11  better suited to be firefighters than blacks, there

         12  is no reason that there should be this tremendous

         13  washout rate.

         14                 Okay, also, the Fire Department loves

         15  to fall back on, they love to say, well, we are

         16  going to stick to the merit system and this is all

         17  about merit, this whole process is about merit, but

         18  the Commissioner himself stated as to how he will

         19  apply that one and three rule to where and when he

         20  sees fit. At the Chief ranks he will apply it, at

         21  the deputy and chief of Department ranks and so on,

         22  he will apply it there, but he won't apply it at

         23  lower ranks. But this just shows you how, you know,

         24  they will play fast and loose with merit whenever

         25  they want, whenever it suits their needs. So, for
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          2  them to pretend that blacks coming to the job is

          3  based on a lack of merit is just not the case.

          4                 I don't think anybody has any

          5  question that the merit system, that the merit

          6  system in general under this Administration, under

          7  this Mayoral Administration, is not being applied. I

          8  mean, we can look at -- the next time you watch TV

          9  news, watch it tonight when the Mayor comes out, and

         10  you will see it will be him standing up there

         11  talking, and there will be seven or eight or nine

         12  white men standing beside him; where is the merit in

         13  that? Is there nobody black? No people of color have

         14  the merit to be involved in this Administration at

         15  all? So are we to pretend now that merit is so

         16  important in terms of blacks coming on to the job if

         17  it doesn't carry over to the Mayor's own close

         18  advisors and administrators and so on? I mean, if

         19  you can only find that a white man or woman has

         20  merit, that tells you a lot right there.

         21                 And finally, I don't want to get

         22  into, it is not my business to tell the Council what

         23  they should do or what they shouldn't do, how they

         24  should or should not proceed in this manner, but

         25  there is nothing over the last few years that I have

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            139

          1  COMMITTEE ON FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  seen that would indicate that the Fire Commissioner

          3  and the Mayor are going to work in conjunction with

          4  the Council or anybody else to change this. They are

          5  not going to do it. The only way they are going to

          6  do it, is if they are forced into doing it. If they

          7  are forced to do it, then they will do it.

          8                 But if we think that we can make such

          9  recommendations to them and suggest that they do

         10  this and suggest that they do that, it is not going

         11  to work. They have to be made to do it because they

         12  showed absolutely no willingness to do it so far.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 Let me just respond to your last

         17  point. This Council controls the budget. Just leave

         18  it at that.

         19                 MR. WASHINGTON: All right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Mr. Washington

         21  was saying he doesn't see any indication where the

         22  Mayor would have a reason to deal with us, and my

         23  response is we control the budget.

         24                 I am troubled, and you might have

         25  gotten it from the questions that were being raised,
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          2  concerning the medical and physical and people that

          3  wash out at that level. Now, you guys have been

          4  through it. I am uncomfortable lumping the

          5  psychological and the medical. I understand the

          6  medical, if you have problems with your heart you

          7  can't run up stairs. If you have diabetes you may be

          8  excluded. If you have a broken leg you might be

          9  excluded. I mean, you can understand that. But then

         10  when you lump in the psychological, that is where I

         11  am troubled. And when they say that X number of

         12  people are washed out at the medical level, how many

         13  are washed out for genuine medical problems or

         14  psychological problems? Because the psychological

         15  can be subject, depending on who is doing an

         16  evaluation. Am I on the right track?

         17                 MR. WASHINGTON: Yes, we don't see any

         18  reason for -- I mean, why would there be a

         19  psychological even involved in the Fire Department.

         20  We understand it for the Police Department, but we

         21  don't see a need for a psychological exam to become

         22  a firefighter.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: The other

         24  question I have, the new requirement where you must

         25  be a certified EMT. At one point you got this
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          2  training at the academy, and when you graduated from

          3  the academy, you were certified as, what is it EMT?

          4                 MR. WASHINGTON: CFRD, Certified --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: CFRD, Certified

          6  First Response.

          7                 To be honest with you, if I had to go

          8  get training to be a certified first responder, I

          9  wouldn't know where to go. And I am wondering if the

         10  brothers and sisters on the street wouldn't know

         11  where to go.

         12                 MR. WASHINGTON: No.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: And why do they

         14  have to go? What do you think was driving this?

         15                 MR. WASHINGTON: Well, it was stated

         16  at a previous City Council hearing that -- what was

         17  their reasoning? Oh, that they wanted to have more

         18  time at the Academy.

         19                 Currently when you become a

         20  firefighter you go to the Academy for 13 weeks,

         21  during which that time you receive your CFRD

         22  training. It was stated that they wanted to

         23  eliminate that so that they could concentrate more

         24  on the firematics at the Academy, you know, putting

         25  up the ladders, dragging the hose lines, so on and
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          2  so forth. But that was the reasoning stated at that

          3  Council meeting but that doesn't hold water in that

          4  right now the candidates, the firefighters coming

          5  out of the firefighter school, coming out of the

          6  firefighters academy, it is acknowledged that they

          7  are better trained now than they ever have been any

          8  time in the past. So, this CFRD training at the

          9  academy doesn't not impair their firematics training

         10  at all. And it is just a huge burden to somebody

         11  coming onto the job.

         12                 As you said, most candidates, most

         13  black candidates are not going to even know what

         14  CFRD is and it is going to put them off right there,

         15  they are going to say, well, what is this.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Do you know of

         17  any place in the City where it is given for free?

         18                 MR. WASHINGTON: Not for free, no. I

         19  am sure some courses will spring up as the need is

         20  there, but it is going to cost. An EMT course now, I

         21  believe is around $400. EMT status is a little

         22  higher than CFRD, but a typical EMT course now is

         23  roughly about $400, give or take.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: You said you

         25  wouldn't impose yourself to tell us what we should
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          2  do, I am giving you that invitation.

          3                 MR. WASHINGTON: Well, what I feel is

          4  whatever power the City Council has to force the

          5  Fire Department's hand, that is what should be done,

          6  as opposed to a tactic of suggestions and so on and

          7  so forth. I am not really well versed in what the

          8  Council can and cannot do, what they can force upon

          9  a particular commissioner or not.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Let me put it

         11  this way: What would the Society recommend to the

         12  Commissioner if you felt that the Commissioner was

         13  open to listen to you?

         14                 MR. WASHINGTON: Well, we have made a

         15  million suggestions to the Commissioner. This

         16  Commissioner as well as others. A good Cadet Program

         17  is one thing. An actual Cadet Program where the

         18  people become firefighters when they are finished,

         19  not where they become EMTs and supposedly got a leg

         20  up.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Councilman Robles

         22  had alluded to that.

         23                 MR. WASHINGTON: Right. And a serious

         24  recruitment effort. A recruitment effort like we

         25  just recently saw with the Police Department, or
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          2  like the Police Department conducted in 1993. And

          3  also, the idea of them giving a test every year,

          4  every two years, that would actually be -- that can

          5  even be more harmful if all they do is give the test

          6  every two years and every one year as opposed to

          7  every four or five years, that would actually hurt

          8  the number of blacks coming on the job, because you

          9  are just skimming from the top of the list, and as I

         10  said we are not at the top because we don't do as

         11  well on that written test. So that would be more

         12  harmful unless it is hooked up to a serious

         13  recruitment effort. You know, if it was hooked to a

         14  serious recruitment effort, it would be more

         15  beneficial, but those two have to take place in

         16  conjunction with one another.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Good point.

         18                 MR. WASHINGTON: But, again, there are

         19  so many different things that are done across the

         20  country to bring more blacks and people of color and

         21  women onto the job, there is no shortage of them,

         22  and the Fire Department is well aware of what is

         23  going on in other cities.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you.

         25                 Council Member Marshall.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL:  Yes. I am

          3  chair of the Higher Education Committee here in the

          4  City Council, and I have seen the difference between

          5  the Police Department's Cadet Corps and the CUNY

          6  Cadet Police Corps, those that we train through the

          7  CUNY system were outstanding officers. There was no

          8  question about it. They were reflective of our City,

          9  young men and women of all different nationalities

         10  were there. I can understand what you mean about a

         11  Cadet Program that is not really a good fellow

         12  program. That program enables the cadets who

         13  graduate from the City University Cadet Program, it

         14  allows them to go into higher positions in the

         15  Department and get many, many benefits and it really

         16  takes them directly into the Department.

         17                 I understand that there is a program,

         18  a cadet program for firemen. I would be interested

         19  in anything -- in fact, I am going to do my research

         20  and find out exactly what the program is about. My

         21  colleague Angel Rodriguez told me about the program

         22  and I will be looking into it to see what we can do

         23  to improve it.

         24                 I would be interested in your input

         25  into that and how it can directly affect our Fire
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          2  Department. It would also just make better firemen

          3  period on the entering level, and you are given

          4  credits for that training. You begin from the time

          5  you get into the cadet program, the police cadet

          6  program, you begin interfacing with the Police

          7  Department, with action, I mean it is a really very

          8  thorough program.

          9                 The only problem is that our Mayor

         10  cut the guts out of it and we were just able to save

         11  the last graduating class. With this particular

         12  budget we have tried to reinstitute that program and

         13  we have to begin it again.

         14                 So, that I am very interested in that

         15  and any suggestions that you might have to make that

         16  a more meaningful program.

         17                 MR. WASHINGTON: Oh, you would like to

         18  hear right now?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes. What

         20  exists now?

         21                 MR. WASHINGTON: Well, what exists now

         22  is you become a cadet and there is no salary

         23  involved and at the end of your time as a cadet you

         24  graduate and become an EMS worker.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Not a
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          2  fireman?

          3                 MR. WASHINGTON: No. You become an EMS

          4  worker. You are an EMT in EMS.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: But you

          6  don't have to really go to college for that, you can

          7  take that course in a lot of places.

          8                 MR. WASHINGTON: Right.

          9                 But what the Fire Department's whole

         10  point is that now you can take your test and become

         11  a firefighter as a promotion, as opposed to a

         12  civilian taking a test and coming onto the job. That

         13  is really very little of a benefit. And as I stated,

         14  to this day nobody has become a firefighter through

         15  that Cadet Program. That Cadet Program has been in

         16  existence for at least three years, it is more like

         17  four. It may even be more than four. But when the

         18  Cadet Program was first instituted, you were going

         19  to go right from the Cadet Corps into the Fire

         20  Department.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: That is the

         22  way it should be.

         23                 MR. WASHINGTON: Right. And that is

         24  the way it was written up and it was actually moving

         25  in that direction. It was going to do that under
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          2  Commissioner Safir.

          3                 Commissioner Von Essen decided, okay,

          4  instead of this being a track directly into the Fire

          5  Department, we are going to make it a track into

          6  EMS.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: So that is a

          8  recent policy change?

          9                 MR. WASHINGTON: It was about two or

         10  three years ago. About two or three years ago. But

         11  before any of these cadets became firefighters, he

         12  said, no, you become an EMS worker.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: The

         14  gentleman seated to your left, Mr. Larry Brown, is

         15  an example of a number of the young men in my

         16  community who did go on to become firemen. They have

         17  wonderful families, they own their own homes, they

         18  are great contributors to our community, they are in

         19  leadership positions as far as the direction of the

         20  community is concerned. It is well worth effort that

         21  we can do to increase that number. And so that I am

         22  going to look into the Cadet Program and I would

         23  like to continue to talk to you about it because the

         24  Vulcan Society, by the way. Was very, very helpful.

         25  Most of the materials that I received in my Council
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          2  Office came from young members of the Vulcan

          3  Society, members of the Vulcan Society, who were

          4  concerned about the decline in numbers of minorities

          5  on the Fire Department, and they gave me materials,

          6  they gave me all kinds -- their illustrations were

          7  better, it was more dramatic and they were willing

          8  themselves to go and speak to schools, speak to high

          9  schools, our young people at the high school level

         10  looking for careers and jobs, and some of them

         11  really can't afford to go on to college, and

         12  something like being a firefighter is a very

         13  attractive position. So we have futile territory out

         14  there, people who are willing and what we do have is

         15  to get out and meet it and certainly the Vulcan

         16  Society has played a major role and I just want to

         17  publicly congratulate you for that. And thank you

         18  for coming today to testify.

         19                 MR. WASHINGTON: Okay. Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 And if I can say one other thing,

         22  too. The list that the Fire Department is currently

         23  hiring off of, they have hired as I said, about 50

         24  black firefighters. The list previous to that, it

         25  was in effect for five years, 28 blacks were hired
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          2  off of that list, and five years they hired 28

          3  blacks. Over this current list they are up to 50 so

          4  far. But of those 50, about 70 percent of them

          5  either came through the Vulcan Society's tutoring

          6  classes for the written or physical training. So, at

          7  least 70 percent of those.

          8                 So, any increase, any increase in the

          9  numbers of blacks coming on, we can take a large

         10  part of that credit and any increase in the amount

         11  that will come on off of this next list, because

         12  more have applied, we can also take a large part of

         13  that credit.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 Jose Garcia and Miguel Ramos,

         18  Hispanic Society.

         19                 MR. RAMOS: Good afternoon.

         20  Councilman, if I may, I would like to have Ron

         21  Morales, President of the National Association of

         22  Hispanic Firefighters testify with us.

         23                 I want to thank you for this

         24  opportunity. As usual, when you come toward the end

         25  of a session like this, much of what you were going
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          2  to cover has already been covered by everyone else,

          3  so I will just read briefly from my statement and I

          4  am going to let the President also from the National

          5  speak on what other states and other cities have

          6  done to rectify and diversify their departments.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Very good.

          8                 MR. RAMOS: I think when we speak

          9  about what happens here in New York and we speak

         10  about the numbers, New York is a disgrace in

         11  reference to how it is perceived throughout the

         12  country.

         13                 Okay, good afternoon, members of the

         14  City Council, I am pleased to be afforded the

         15  opportunity to address this Committee and enlighten

         16  you on the efforts of the Fire Department of this

         17  City of New York to diversify its ranks. My name is

         18  Miguel Ramos, President of the Hispanic Society.

         19                 Efforts to improve minority

         20  representation have been lacking for many years by

         21  this Department, and the past recruitment effort is

         22  no different.

         23                 The amount allocated to recruitment

         24  as stated at a previous Council hearing was $1.2

         25  million, as compared to the Police Department that
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          2  spent a total of over $10 million, this in itself

          3  speaks volumes about the sincerity and commitment

          4  this Department has to diversify. This Department,

          5  when it comes to minority representation, is a

          6  national disgrace.

          7                 Worse, in many of the major cities

          8  and states, such as Alabama, Louisiana, Mississippi,

          9  Georgia and many more. When we last testified before

         10  the Committee of Civil Service and Labor, we were

         11  told by the Mayor's Management Report that it was

         12  replete with detailed information on the successes

         13  and initiatives of the Fire Department.

         14                 However, as it was clearly stated

         15  before by Chairperson Lucy Cruz, nowhere, and I

         16  repeat, nowhere in the report was there any mention

         17  on the Fire Department recruitment efforts. The

         18  question that begs to be asked is why? Why is that

         19  so? Well, we know why is that so. The simple fact is

         20  that this Administration has no intention or desire

         21  to diversify this Department. The five points that

         22  were previously given in the last exam for City

         23  residents was a farce, a scam, in order for one to

         24  receive credit one had only to reside in the City

         25  for a period of 24 hours. Twenty-four hours, which
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          2  is what benefitted the City residents of New York.

          3                 The previous president of this

          4  Society requested that the Department of Personnel

          5  for the City of New York provide them with how many

          6  individuals put in for changes of addresses and was

          7  told that that information was not available to the

          8  Personnel Department, a statement that we found

          9  incredible and had to believe, due to the fact that

         10  this agency is responsible for this information.

         11                 As we look at the unsatisfactory

         12  numbers of minority representatives, we see that, if

         13  anything, this Department is fast becoming even less

         14  diversified than in the past and will eventually

         15  become less reflective if it is possible of the City

         16  it serves, which is closely approaching 62 percent

         17  and in the coming years it will be 65 percent. This

         18  is unacceptable.

         19                 The efforts that need to be taken

         20  that this Department reflect the City it services

         21  are not being initiated and will entail an

         22  aggressive effort by the part of the Council to take

         23  the test and make the responsibility of hiring --

         24  oh. To take the responsibility of hiring away from

         25  the Fire Department and put it in the hands of
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          2  someone that is more capable and willing to do this

          3  and it has to be done.

          4                 The total number of applicants that

          5  filed for this exam, as compared to the previous one

          6  given in 1992 is half, from 40,000 to 20,000. If

          7  this trend continues to exist, our efforts to

          8  increase minority representation will be made even

          9  more difficult. We must make a sincere effort to

         10  reach out to our communities and make sure that this

         11  opportunity to become one of New York's bravest is

         12  spread to the rest of our citizens.

         13                 I will dispense with the rest of

         14  this. In essence what I am trying to say right now

         15  is that the changes that need to be done have to

         16  come from outside the Department. With respect to

         17  the New York City Fire Department to change itself,

         18  an institution does not change itself, it is changed

         19  by the political will of the people who reside in

         20  the City and it is time now for the elected

         21  officials from the top to the bottom, from the

         22  Mayor's Office to the City Council to exercise their

         23  prerogative to make the necessary changes. Never

         24  expect the Department, the Fire Department, to make

         25  the changes. Like they say, if it ain't broke, don't
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          2  fix it. They don't think it is broke. But it is.

          3                 With that I will close my statement,

          4  and if Jose would like to say something?

          5                 MR. GARCIA: Yes, good afternoon. My

          6  name is Jose Garcia. I am a Lieutenant in the New

          7  York City Fire Department. I am the First Vice

          8  President of the Hispanic Society. Basically I would

          9  just like to reinforce what Miguel Ramos has just

         10  been stating.

         11                 I think when we deal with the Fire

         12  Department of the City of New York, as has been

         13  previously stated, when it comes to a recruitment

         14  effort, we need to look at numbers. I am a firm

         15  believer in numbers and I am sure the City Council

         16  is also.

         17                 The fact of the matter is that when

         18  we last met and we last testified before the City

         19  Council, the Fire Department of the City of New York

         20  went down on record as stating that the monies that

         21  they have spent so far in recruitment was $250,000

         22  out of a budget of $1 billion.

         23                 In 1992 the recruitment effort, the

         24  money which was spent then, was $450,000, so how can

         25  they expect the numbers to get any better when you
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          2  have cut the recruitment budget in half? It just

          3  doesn't make sense.

          4                 Also, as Miguel stated, we firmly

          5  believe that if any change is going to come about,

          6  as far as diversifying the Fire Department of the

          7  City of New York and making it more reflective of

          8  the citizens of this City, which I might add

          9  represents 62 percent of the general population, and

         10  as we look at the City Council we see it reflective

         11  of the citizens of this City, all we are asking is

         12  that this Council does the very same thing for the

         13  least diversified Fire Department of the United

         14  States of America. To have New York given that

         15  distinction, it is an embarrassment to all of the

         16  elected officials in this City, I believe, and it is

         17  something that needs to be corrected in the very

         18  near future.

         19                 Again, as Miguel clearly stated, if

         20  there are any changes that need to be done, I

         21  guarantee you, and I can assure you after 20 years

         22  in this job, it is not going to come from within.

         23  The Fire Department of the City of New York will not

         24  make those changes. Not willingly.

         25                 And in closing, I again would just
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          2  like to thank the City Council for being given this

          3  opportunity to address it, and as Councilman Warden

          4  asked the previous president, what would we do if

          5  given the opportunity to change this Fire

          6  Department? I would say I would take that

          7  recruitment effort away from the Fire Department of

          8  the City of New York, because their history has

          9  shown they are not capable of doing what must be

         10  done.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MR. MORALES: Thank you, and good

         13  afternoon. I will give you just a brief history of

         14  who I am. My name is Ron Morales. I am President for

         15  the National Association of Hispanic Firefighters

         16  based out of Dallas, Texas, and I am a State of

         17  Connecticut resident.

         18                 This past week we held our fifth

         19  National Association of Hispanic Firefighter

         20  Conference and first Fire International Latin

         21  American Fire Expo in the City of Miami, and I got

         22  home last evening, around 12:30 last night.

         23                 I represent roughly 1,000 Hispanics

         24  in this country, and after this last convention we

         25  will be representing the Latin American countries in
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          2  the Caribbean.

          3                 At this last convention we had

          4  firefighters from Argentina, Brazil, Chile,

          5  Columbia, Venezuela, Panama, Nicaragua, Mexico and

          6  Madrid and the U.S., and it is to our benefit

          7  because the Internationalization of Fire Chiefs

          8  never catered or particularly cared to address the

          9  Latin American firefighters in this world, and we do

         10  and since then they have become members of our

         11  organization and we will be representing them

         12  nationally and internationally.

         13                 Today I was invited here by Miguel

         14  Ramos, who is the State representative for the State

         15  of New York Fire Association, and he asked that I

         16  come down and I thought it was the right thing to

         17  do, to support Miguel in his efforts here in New

         18  York City in trying to change the hiring practices

         19  and to include more minorities in the Department

         20  here in New York City.

         21                 There were some disturbing things I

         22  heard here today from the Commissioner of the

         23  Department. The first disturbing thing I heard was

         24  the way it is done. The reason we are here is

         25  because of the way it is done, and I don't think he
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          2  recognizes that. I think that if we all thought

          3  because of the way it is done, we would be out there

          4  today with horses and buggies and leather wagons

          5  putting out fires if we thought it was because of

          6  the way it is done.

          7                 I think that is a terrible statement

          8  for any commissioner, any fire chief in any city in

          9  this country to make. That is a terrible statement

         10  to make.

         11                 The other thing I heard today that

         12  disturbed me, and I asked Miguel before I got up

         13  here, and I consider it the raising of the bar, I

         14  believe it was Commissioner Safir who had said that

         15  it was a five-point residency. Well, that was to

         16  promote and given an advantage to your city

         17  residents. Evidently the current commissioner raised

         18  that bar, or he eliminated that bar by now having

         19  them, any city resident, have to have 30 college

         20  credits as a minimum to sit for a firefighter entry

         21  level exam. That is the raising of the bar, the

         22  glass ceiling, once again put there in the way for

         23  black, women and Hispanics not to become

         24  professional firefighters. You need to look at that

         25  and the reasons why. You do not need 30 college
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          2  credits to be a firefighter. If you need incentives

          3  afterwards, that's fine, but the initial entry I

          4  believe you do not need to have that.

          5                 The other interesting thing I heard

          6  here was that there was no diversity plan in place.

          7  There is a diversity plan in place, it is the leader

          8  in this Department, the Commissioner's

          9  responsibility to look at the qualifications of the

         10  top three candidates to be promoted. He has got to

         11  be willing to take the heat from the old school and

         12  say, you know what? You got a 95, number three got a

         13  94.9, you are not going to make a better lieutenant,

         14  a better Captain, a better Chief, a better Deputy

         15  Chief because of one-tenth of a point. When you have

         16  the ability to go back and look at the individual's

         17  character, because he spoke about character all day

         18  while I sat here, but you know what? Go back and

         19  look at those top three candidates and see what type

         20  of characters they are, what type of involvement do

         21  they have in the community, and make your decision

         22  based on that. And you know what? When you are the

         23  leader you are supposed to take the heat to pick

         24  number two or number three, don't go rank order if

         25  you have the ability to make that change, and the
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          2  change will diversify your Department, which

          3  evidently has a serious problem, but once again, the

          4  way it is done. The way it is done needs to be

          5  changed, and the change may need to be done at the

          6  top, because if someone is unwilling to recognize a

          7  problem, or can say that they have a problem, and

          8  not be willing to change, or hear or listen or

          9  accept change, then you know what? Maybe you need to

         10  change that, and maybe that is the direction the

         11  City of New York needs to come.

         12                 The City of New York has

         13  approximately, what, 12,000 firefighters. The

         14  largest professional fire department in the world,

         15  recognized worldwide. And there is absolutely no

         16  reason that you should have the numbers that you

         17  have, none whatsoever. None. And approximately six

         18  or seven months ago there was an article in the

         19  Boston newspaper, I don't know if any of you have

         20  seen it, which dealt with the same issues that you

         21  are dealing with here and the City of Boston. But

         22  there is certainly a problem here and I think that

         23  when the Commissioner travels and he is told by

         24  individuals from the Justice Department that there

         25  is certainly something here that needs to be looked
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          2  at, and you know what? As a leader you say, okay,

          3  when can we start and when do we do it, because the

          4  sooner the better, and it is better for me, my city,

          5  my department and the citizens that I serve on a

          6  daily basis.

          7                 I, myself, have been quite involved

          8  with the US Fire Administration and our

          9  organization. This coming month in October I will be

         10  going to San Antonio, Texas, to a Fire Services

         11  Needs Workshop sponsored by the US Fire

         12  Administration, and I believe it is the Buildings

         13  and Standards Institute out of Washington, D.C. They

         14  are discussing the changes that are necessary for

         15  the new millennium when it comes to the fire

         16  service.

         17                 The fire service is changing, it has

         18  changed. Some people are just unwilling to accept

         19  the change, and when those people that are unwilling

         20  to accept the change still exist within the fire

         21  service, then we need to eliminate those people,

         22  because you know what? They are keeping us down and

         23  stopping us from progressing where we need to

         24  progress in the new millennium. There is no doubt

         25  about it, and I think that by what is happening here
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          2  today and has been happening in your past sessions I

          3  think is in the right direction and you just have to

          4  be forceful, and if you need to impose that force on

          5  the chief of this Department/Commissioner, then you

          6  need to do that. Because you know what? If you are

          7  not with us, then get out of the way.

          8                 And that is what you have to pose,

          9  and that is the direction you have to stay in and

         10  you have to be committed to that effort. And if you

         11  do, not only will you have the largest department,

         12  you already have a great department, but you will

         13  have a very diversified department, reflective of

         14  the community you serve and that is where you need

         15  to be, that is what you need to get. We shouldn't be

         16  hearing what we are hearing here today. That is

         17  terrible to hear from the City of New York.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you.

         20                 I think we have questions from

         21  Council Member Rodriguez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you

         23  for testifying. You suggested that the recruitment

         24  be taken away from the Fire Department, did you also

         25  suggest that the entire hiring process be taken away
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          2  or just the recruitment?

          3                 MR. GARCIA: I would say yes. I

          4  haven't seen or heard anything today that changes

          5  it. Everything is tomorrow, tomorrow we are going to

          6  try this. I have been on the job 18 years and I have

          7  been going through this for the last 18 years. We

          8  have been involved in recruitment, I hear the same

          9  stories, they reinvent the wheel every four years. I

         10  think it is time for some radical changes. And if

         11  that is radical, taking it out of the department, I

         12  think they have proved they are incapable of doing

         13  it, and so be it. If the Justice Department wants to

         14  jump in and make the necessary changes, so be it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: They

         16  testified today that there is very little room for

         17  discretion. The Commissioner testified and made it

         18  clear to me that the process is very rigid and there

         19  is no room for any discretion there, so that either

         20  you pass or you fail, either you are on the list or

         21  you are not on the list. If you are on the list you

         22  get hired. If you are not on the list you don't get

         23  hired, unless you are one of these 12 people that

         24  got knocked off for something? Is that in your

         25  experience, and do you think that was an accurate
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          2  representation of the process on the part of the

          3  Commissioner?

          4                 MR. RAMOS: Well, I think the first

          5  thing that needs to be looked at is the pool, and I

          6  am going to try to explain it to you in the way of

          7  an ice cream cone.

          8                 You start off with say maybe 800,

          9  1,000 Hispanics that apply for this examination.

         10  Through the process of the physical exam, the

         11  psychological, the medical, now you come out to a

         12  certain pool, if the certain pool is depleted at

         13  every step that you are going along through this

         14  process, what do you think you are going to end up

         15  with? I will tell you what you are going to end up

         16  with, you are going to end up with a Fire Department

         17  that is 94 percent white, okay?

         18                 What needs to be done, a sincere

         19  effort in recruitment, not with $250,000 thrown into

         20  it with a budget of $1 billion, for someone that is

         21  going to be sincere and effective and most

         22  importantly, know what they are doing to come in and

         23  take it over and do the right thing that needs to be

         24  done.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: When you
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          2  suggest someone coming to take it over, do you have

          3  any idea who should be doing something like this?

          4                 MR. GARCIA: I guess, Councilman

          5  Rodriguez, as we testified in October, I believe it

          6  was, in '98, we told you clearly we are New York

          7  City firefighters. When it comes to putting out

          8  fires that is our expertise.

          9                 As the Council members, your

         10  expertise is to see, yes, we have a problem with the

         11  Fire Department of the City of New York when it

         12  comes to diversification, and what steps need to be

         13  taken to rectify this horrendous problem.

         14                 What I don't understand is how this

         15  problem can have existed for as long as it has in a

         16  city that is so diversified, that is so diversified,

         17  and I look at this Committee today and I see

         18  reflective, and I keep emphasizing this because it

         19  means so much, I see it reflective of the citizens

         20  of this City, why can we not have the Fire

         21  Department be reflective of the citizens it serves?

         22  Yet, in the previous testimony, we had the First

         23  Deputy Fire Commissioner, which clearly stated his

         24  words were that our intentions is to make this Fire

         25  Department reflective of the citizens of this City.
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          2  When you spent $250,000 out of a budget of $1

          3  billion, that shows your determination. And I think

          4  by that figure alone, speaks volumes about how

          5  sincere they are about diversifying this Fire

          6  Department.  So, when you ask me, do we have someone

          7  in mind, Council Member Rodriguez, again I would

          8  explain to you that is not our expertise, I think

          9  that is something that the City Council needs to

         10  take a look at and make the recommendations. But the

         11  fact of the matter is, something needs to be done.

         12  Because if it is not done, I can assure you that

         13  your kids and your grandchildren will be testifying

         14  before the City Council of New York one day with the

         15  very same problem we have today.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Let me ask

         17  a question of Officer Morales, Fireman Morales. You

         18  suggested that the same thing was going on in Boston

         19  or a similar situation, probably not to the extent

         20  that it is going on here. And I think I got from

         21  you, I am not sure, that they have done things in

         22  other places. Can you give us some ideas of what

         23  they have done in other places to rectify the

         24  problem?

         25                 MR. MORALES: Well, there is testing
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          2  companies out there that come in, look at the

          3  requirements necessary to be a firefighter in a

          4  particular community and based on that, and

          5  discussions with their fire chiefs, develop a test

          6  that would be reflective of what is necessary to be

          7  a firefighter in a particular municipality, and to

          8  hopefully diversify the Department, whether it is at

          9  the entry level or promotional ranks, lieutenants,

         10  captains and so forth. There is companies out there

         11  that do that. If the National Association of

         12  Firefighters can be of any assistance in locating

         13  testing companies, feel free to allow me to assist

         14  you in that effort.

         15                 Because as far as, we just finished,

         16  as I said, a convention in Miami this last week, and

         17  I bought the paperwork with me. There was a class

         18  given there by a chief, Tony Beretz, a Deputy Chief

         19  in the Miami Dade Fire Rescue Fire Department, and

         20  it is about their testing process and their testing

         21  efforts, and if you give me a moment I will get it

         22  for you.

         23                 And in the City of Miami it is quite

         24  reflective of the community. It is based upon the

         25  applicant pool, how much of the applicant pool is
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          2  black, Hispanic, women and white, and based on that,

          3  how many of those candidates in those particular

          4  pools would make it to the final, it is all based on

          5  percentages, so that based on how many you get to

          6  apply, the end product is reflective of that amount.

          7  So, it is all really based upon how strong you are

          8  at your recruitment effort.

          9                 If you are the fellow associate of

         10  Hispanic Firefighters and you take an active role in

         11  going out into the community and pushing your luck,

         12  you know, firefighters to come out and apply for the

         13  exam, naturally when the original number, when the

         14  application process is over, that number may be

         15  larger than any other number. So, evidently at the

         16  very end product, you will have more luck, you know,

         17  sitting for that exam, based upon how many applied.

         18  And it breaks itself down. I can provide copies of

         19  this and I can provide you Mr. Beretz name and a

         20  number, and he would certainly fill you in and

         21  provide you testimony as to how it works in the City

         22  of Miami for Miami Dade Fire Rescue. And they do

         23  have very good numbers, quite reflective of the

         24  department all the way across the board. I can

         25  certainly get you in contact with Chief Beretz.
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          2                 The other thing I wanted to touch on,

          3  too, was I think it would be quite an interesting

          4  statistic to get from the Department for yourselves

          5  would be since you have the ability, since the

          6  Commissioner has the ability to pick between anyone

          7  in the group of three, is to see what was the point

          8  difference between the three people he could have

          9  chosen and what was the make up of that group of

         10  three.

         11                 So, in other words, if one is white,

         12  two is black and three is Hispanic, how close in

         13  score were they, where he could have had the

         14  opportunity to diversify the department on his own

         15  based upon his authority by, I guess it is City

         16  Charter, civil service role, if he could have done

         17  that. And going back how far could that have

         18  happened where you would have a different reflective

         19  picture of your department had those decisions been

         20  made that nobody has wanted to make evidently. But

         21  that would be a good statistic to have, because

         22  walking into a room and taking an exam on that given

         23  day, you may score higher today than I did. Tomorrow

         24  we may take the same exam and I may score higher

         25  than you did. So that to me is not a clear
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          2  reflection of, that is a clear reflection of a

          3  written score, but I think to be a good fire officer

          4  and a good firefighter, you need a well-rounded

          5  individual. Not just an individual that is book

          6  smart, you need an individual that can distinguish

          7  between the right and the wrong and be able to

          8  verbalize what it is that you are trying to get from

          9  someone that is injured, hurt or whatever. It is not

         10  necessarily scoring 100 on an exam. The individual

         11  that scores 85 may be the better candidate by far

         12  based upon his humanistic points of view and how he

         13  looks at people and what his views are generally in

         14  life. So, you know, I think that statistic that I

         15  talked about would be an interesting statistic to

         16  see where those decisions could have been made to

         17  have diversified your Department more than what it

         18  is now.

         19                 MR. GARCIA: I just wanted to add one

         20  other thing, as far as increasing the pull. I gave

         21  each member there a manila folder and I also would

         22  like for you to take a look at the chief article for

         23  April 15th, 1994, and it reads as follows: Filing

         24  extended for Nassau Police Exam. And in the third

         25  paragraph, it is clearly written, there are age,
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          2  residential and residency requirements. Again,

          3  residency requirements, for sergeants for the Long

          4  Island jobs. High preference may be given to county

          5  residents.

          6                 If you institute a residency

          7  requirement, as most cities throughout this United

          8  States have done, I would assure you and guarantee

          9  you that the representation of minority will

         10  increase ten-fold, if not larger. That is what is

         11  needed, a residency requirement will go a long way

         12  in diversifying this Fire Department.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Let me just

         14  advise you that this Council, not this Committee,

         15  but the Civil Service Committee that Councilman

         16  Rodriguez and I serve on have passed a residency

         17  request each and every year that we have been here.

         18  However, the decision is not ours, the decision is

         19  that of the state and the state legislators and what

         20  is happening, why we can't get it is because the

         21  advocacy groups for the firemen who live in

         22  Westchester and Putnam and Nassau and Suffolk, speak

         23  to their legislator in Nassau, Suffolk, Westchester

         24  and Putnam, and encourage them to vote it down, and

         25  they are able to have been able to do this each and
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          2  every year.

          3                 The residency rule, it is interesting

          4  because as you said, in other jurisdictions they

          5  have it, but there is something within the law that

          6  says in those municipalities in excess of 1 million

          7  population, it must go through the state assembly,

          8  state senate and signed by the Governor before it

          9  can be put into implementation.

         10                 So that if you wanted to go out in

         11  Nassau County and get a job as a firefighter and

         12  live in Co-Op City, as you do, it wouldn't happen.

         13                 MR. GARCIA: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: But they can come

         15  here and get the job with the full blessings of

         16  everyone.

         17                 MR. GARCIA: Well, what I find most

         18  incredible about that statement, sir, is the fact

         19  that we are having the state telling the City of New

         20  York whom they shall hire for firefighters and

         21  police officers.

         22                 In other words, you don't live in my

         23  house but you are going to tell me who to hire to

         24  run my house?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Well, this has
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          2  been a problem, and it applies to Fire, Police,

          3  Sanitation, Board of Education.

          4                 MR. GARCIA: I believe this is the

          5  Lyons Law you are referring to?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I was in the

          7  State Legislature for nine years, every single year

          8  I went on a residency bill, all right? The state

          9  does give us some -- we call it enabling legislation

         10  that we must get from the state and this is one, it

         11  overrides the City in power, and as a result, we

         12  cannot get that bill passed.

         13                 In fact, we had a tough time even

         14  getting it passed in the Assembly but it never

         15  passed the Senate. But there is many state

         16  legislators who are not from the City and they don't

         17  support it. They want their people to be able to

         18  come into our City and get jobs. Yet, we do have

         19  residency requirements for many City agencies. Many

         20  City agencies you can't be a Commissioner, you can't

         21  be a deputy commissioner, and there are many jobs in

         22  this City that you have to reside in this City to

         23  get.

         24                 I don't understand why at this level

         25  we had the uniformed police officers, the uniformed
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          2  services are the only ones where you don't have to

          3  be a resident of our City, and yet right next door

          4  in Long Island you have to be a resident.

          5                 So, it is totally unfair, and there

          6  have been so many things to impact on, keeping our

          7  numbers smaller in the Police and Fire Department

          8  and Sanitation Department. Three departments that

          9  never really required, some of them didn't even

         10  require a high school education at one time and many

         11  people have really made it that way. It has been

         12  kept within family dynasties, as I pointed out

         13  earlier, and yet, you know, the City doesn't look

         14  like that anymore, we have all kinds of people here

         15  and they deserve the opportunity.

         16                 While I have the floor, as I talked

         17  to the Vulcan Society, I have a district, if you

         18  come into my district to any of my schools, you get

         19  it all. I mean, I have a wide variety of students

         20  certainly black and Latino, I have Russians, I have

         21  Greeks, I have Muslims, I have everybody, okay? It

         22  seems to me that both the Vulcan Society and also

         23  the Hispanic Firefighters, you could make such an

         24  impact in our schools.

         25                 In fact, members from our community
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          2  who are part of the Vulcan Society actually went

          3  into our schools to speak to the students. I assure

          4  you that it would have a much greater impact,

          5  particularly in our high schools, in their junior

          6  and senior year of high school, to get them to think

          7  like that. In fact, if they just spent the money

          8  there it would work. If they just spent the money,

          9  with your organization doing it, I believe that it

         10  could work a lot better.

         11                 And for the women, to have some of

         12  the women who are firefighters coming into our high

         13  schools, because many women, girls don't think in

         14  terms of themselves as firefighters, again, another

         15  opportunity that i think we are missing.

         16                 Now, on that one out of three, that

         17  is not a new problem. That has been a long, long,

         18  long problem for years in every single phase of

         19  civil service selection process, every single one.

         20                 If you have a certain kind of name,

         21  you have an opportunity to get further there. I was

         22  surprised to hear from the gentlemen who speaks from

         23  a national level, that in the one out of three, are

         24  you also supposed to be similar in your grade scores

         25  on the test? Or do they just pick people at random
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          2  who pass the test to be in that one, in that group

          3  of three?

          4                 MR. MORALES: I believe I was thinking

          5  of how your system is, you have got a 99, a 99.1 or

          6  a 99.5, that would be the first rank order, right?

          7  It goes rank order 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6  and then it

          8  becomes a new 1,2,3, after you pick somebody from

          9  the top three, then you renumber 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and

         10  so on and so on.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: But they

         12  would all be close in rank.

         13                 MR. MORALES: Oh, yes. But I believe

         14  it is still a rank list by score and then just

         15  groups in three. But the three always changes every

         16  time you hire somebody from that first group of

         17  three, then those two become 1, 2, 3 again and then

         18  a new person becomes number three.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Let me just

         20  share with you, for eight years I headed the City of

         21  New York Department of Employment Program where we

         22  got people into jobs and training. Every single

         23  person who came to me who had taken the fireman's

         24  exam, including the police exam, and was not

         25  selected had scores of 85 to 90 something. Every
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          2  single one of them. Every single one. Maybe the ones

          3  with lower scores weren't so proud of it and didn't

          4  come to me, but every single one of them came. They

          5  were fine people who could have made excellent

          6  firefighters, excellent policemen, but every single

          7  one of them, but of course they were all minority.

          8  They were all minority. And that is still a problem

          9  that we have. And it is particularly important when

         10  we look at the structure of the Fire Department and

         11  the Police Department, like we are getting them,

         12  like I said, just from certain areas, you know,

         13  certain groups of people, I think that system is not

         14  really working.

         15                 MR. MORALES: My belief is as a leader

         16  for my national, I am elected to take the hits and

         17  make the decisions, and I think as a fire chief or a

         18  commissioner, you are paid to make the decision and

         19  take the hits. And I think that is the direction any

         20  leader should look at. You know, that is what you

         21  are paid to do and that is the reason we put you

         22  there, so I wouldn't have to take the hit.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: No, I just

         24  have one other question. Did I understand you to say

         25  that the Department only spent a certain portion of
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          2  their recruitment money, only $250,000 out of the $1

          3  million?

          4                 MR. GARCIA: Ma'am, the last testimony

          5  we gave before the City Council, the Fire Department

          6  of the City of New York which is represented by the

          7  First Deputy Commissioner William Feehan and Ms.

          8  Lynn Tierney, their total budget, their words, their

          9  total budget was $250,000 for recruitment. So, I

         10  mean I understand Miguel, my president, has made a

         11  statement of 1.2 million, which we were told the

         12  number now hasn't increased among, you know, for

         13  whatever reason, but their words were in fact that

         14  the total budget for recruitment was $250,000

         15  compared to 1992 where it was $450,000. So, it was

         16  practically cut in half. I don't understand how you

         17  can expect any better results if you are cutting

         18  that budget in half. And all of this WKTU radio

         19  advertising and TV and newspapers on a $250,000

         20  budget, I find that incredible.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Now, the

         22  gentleman who has a national position, I am sorry,

         23  your name again is?

         24                 MR. MORALES: Ron Morales.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Mr. Morales
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          2  stated there is a correlation between the size of

          3  the pool and those that get actually appointed, the

          4  bigger the pool to pull from, the more will be

          5  appointed.

          6                 What exactly did the Fire Department

          7  do for recruitment?

          8                 MR. MORALES: I can use what Miami

          9  does.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Tell me,

         11  what did New York City Fire Department do with that

         12  little bit of money, with that money that they had?

         13                 MR. GARCIA: From what I understand

         14  since we have been here we have had the numbers

         15  change from 250 to 1.2 million, so I believe it was

         16  alluded to millions, so I don't know the exact

         17  figure that was spent.

         18                 Originally, like you said, the

         19  previous hearings we had, they stated there was

         20  $250,000. It was commented that that was the amount

         21  of money for a serious recruitment campaign for an

         22  agency that has a budget of $1 billion. If you are

         23  serious and you have the numbers that you have, you

         24  would have spent 20 times that. And I think one of

         25  the members of the City Council said you should
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          2  spend 20 times that amount of money.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Well, our

          4  chair tells me we have a list of the activities that

          5  they did, their recruitment activities, and he will

          6  share that with us.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Let me just

          9  say one thing. I have a copy of their last testimony

         10  here and the question was: Could you give us your

         11  recruitment budget? Quite simple, from Chairperson

         12  Cruz.

         13                 Deputy Commissioner Tierney said:

         14  Without calculating personnel costs, we are probably

         15  close to $250,000. So that is their budget and it

         16  was in their testimony, this is their official

         17  testimony that they made to us at civil service and

         18  labor back a couple of months ago.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I am even

         21  interested in what they did with it. What did they

         22  do with it?

         23                 MR. GARCIA: Well, much of their

         24  campaign which they presented to us at the last

         25  hearing where they had the posters made up, a lot of
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          2  that stuff was made at the last minute. The posters

          3  weren't available until two weeks into recruitment,

          4  they were supposedly working on this for two years,

          5  and all of this advertising and all of that stuff

          6  was into the recruitment phase of it already. In

          7  other words, once they opened up filing, they didn't

          8  have the posters ready. They came on line two weeks

          9  into it. I never saw the poster on a subway, so I

         10  don't know and I think when they testified last time

         11  there was a few set of Councilpersons here who said

         12  they didn't even know there was a recruitment effort

         13  going on.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Same here.

         15                 MR. GARCIA: Toward the end there was

         16  a mad rush because they saw the numbers weren't

         17  there, all of a sudden they went crazy.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: But no

         19  recruitment in the schools, in the high schools?

         20                 MR. GARCIA: They had public speakers

         21  go out and they spoke at the schools. But as far as

         22  the ad campaign, I didn't see that until the end.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Let me thank you,

         25  gentlemen, for testifying. It has been very
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          2  enlightening. I am sure we will be in touch with you

          3  again in the very near future.

          4                 MR. RAMOS: We want to thank you for

          5  being given this opportunity to address the City

          6  Council. On behalf of the Hispanic Society, we thank

          7  you very much. We hope something constructive comes

          8  out of this.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: That is why we

         10  are here.

         11                 Brenda Berkman, United Women

         12  Firefighters.  I am one of the ancient women

         13  firefighters. Good afternoon. I am Lieutenant Brenda

         14  Berkman, and I am testifying today as the President

         15  of the United Women's Firefighters, the FDNY

         16  Organization for Women Firefighters.

         17                 First, I would like to thank whoever

         18  was responsible for thinking of including the United

         19  Women's Firefighters in today's hearing. We have

         20  been very dismayed that the City Council and the

         21  press have mostly ignored the issue of the dismal

         22  record of hiring of women firefighters by the City

         23  of New York over the past 22 years.

         24                 Indeed, resolution number 914 calls

         25  upon the City Council to conduct this oversight
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          2  hearing does not even mention women as part of the

          3  FDNY's recruitment and hiring problem. Without

          4  diminishing in any way the serious problems faced by

          5  the other organizations and groups testifying, I am

          6  here today to tell you that the New York City Fire

          7  Department is facing an impending crisis with

          8  respect to gender integration in its firefighting

          9  forces.

         10                 The United Women's Firefighters has

         11  testified before the City Council's Committee on

         12  Women in past years concerning this deplorable

         13  situation, but the Council as a whole has shown

         14  little interest in this problem.

         15                 Let's look at the shocking

         16  statistics. The FDNY's firefighting force is 99.97

         17  percent male, and .03 percent women. That is

         18  three-tenths of one percent.

         19                 New York City hired its first 40

         20  women firefighters in 1982 after losing a sex

         21  discrimination lawsuit.

         22                 Prior to 1982 there was a quota for

         23  hiring women as New York City's Firefighters, the

         24  quota was 100 percent men and 0 percent women, since

         25  the City did not allow women to even apply to the
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          2  entry test for firefighter.

          3                 Since 1982 the number of women

          4  firefighters has actually decreased. Of that first

          5  40, 34 women are still on the job. Almost one-third

          6  of that group are women of color, certainly a much

          7  better percentage than you find with respect to the

          8  men in the firefighting force.

          9                 But approximately 30 women

         10  firefighters of that 34 will be eligible to retire

         11  next year, in the Year 2000.

         12                 The City has given three firefighter

         13  exams since 1982. The first exam resulted in zero

         14  women being hired off the eligibles list.

         15                 The second exam resulted in one woman

         16  being hired off the eligibles list.

         17                 And the third exam, the current

         18  eligibles list, has resulted in three women to date,

         19  including the only woman of color to be hired as a

         20  firefighter since 1982.

         21                 I ask you to do the math here. These

         22  statistics indicate that next year, in the new

         23  millennium, the number of women firefighters in New

         24  York City could drop from 30 to approximately eight,

         25  and that number could be further reduced to four in
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          2  about five years.

          3                 That would mean that at a time when

          4  50 percent of New York City's workers are women, its

          5  firefighting force will be 99.997 percent men.

          6                 For comparison I ask you to look at

          7  some statistics regarding the hiring of women by

          8  other Fire Departments across the country. Similar

          9  to the brother firefighters from the Vulcan and

         10  Hispanic Society, you will see that New York has one

         11  of the worst records with respect to the hiring of

         12  women firefighters.

         13                 I am not going to go over those

         14  because the afternoon has been very long, but I ask

         15  you to review those and you will see that we are at

         16  the bottom of the list. Both small and large

         17  departments in all areas of the United States have

         18  greater numbers of women firefighters than New York

         19  City, and many of these departments, San Francisco

         20  and Chicago, for instance, have achieved these

         21  numbers in shorter periods of time, having hired

         22  their first women firefighters after New York City

         23  began hiring women in 1982.

         24                 Looking first at New York City's

         25  recruitment efforts, the City has failed to increase
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          2  the number of women applying to take the firefighter

          3  exam, since women were first allowed to apply to

          4  become firefighters over 20 years ago.

          5                 Let me say that again. They have

          6  failed to increase the number of women applying to

          7  even take the firefighter exam for 22 years.

          8                 Although you will have to get the

          9  exact numbers from the Fire Department and DCAS,

         10  approximately 1,000 women have filed to take each of

         11  the four firefighter exams since 1977, and when the

         12  written exam for each of those filings was given,

         13  only about 50 percent of the approximately 500 women

         14  appeared to take the written portion of the exam.

         15  The numbers are even more dismal for the numbers of

         16  women who appeared to take the second part of the

         17  exam, the physical abilities portion.

         18                 These numbers have not substantially

         19  changed in 20 years, and I have already given you

         20  the outcomes in terms of the actual number of women

         21  hired off each of the last three exams, zero, one

         22  and three.

         23                 At the same time we estimate that the

         24  FDNY has hired more than 7,000 men off the most

         25  recent three list.
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          2                 To put this in the context of the

          3  hiring of women by other City uniformed services,

          4  consider that in the same time period, 1977 to

          5  present, police and corrections have all hired far

          6  greater numbers of women officers in a much larger

          7  percentage of their agencies are uniformed women.

          8                 Other non-traditional physically

          9  demanding jobs in the military, professional sports

         10  and the construction trades have all increased their

         11  numbers of women.

         12                 Before I move on to recommendations,

         13  I also want to give you the statistics regarding

         14  women's promotions and assignments within the Fire

         15  Department, and I am sorry that Councilman Perkins

         16  couldn't stay for this because some of the points

         17  that he was raising I think are very relevant to the

         18  next thing that I am going to be saying.

         19                 The highest ranking woman in the FDNY

         20  is a captain, and she was promoted to that rank only

         21  three months ago.

         22                 There are two more women on the

         23  current captains' list. There are two women

         24  lieutenants out of approximately 1,500 lieutenants.

         25  Only one woman is on the current lieutenants' list.
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          2                 To date no woman of color has been

          3  promoted to captain or lieutenant. There are two

          4  women fire marshals. Only one woman is assigned to

          5  the FDNY's special operations command, which is our

          6  equivalence of the elite ESU in the PD.

          7                 These statistics should be compared

          8  with other US Fire Departments that have substantial

          9  numbers of women promoted in their highest ranks.

         10  Over the years the City has repeatedly impeded the

         11  promotions of FDNY uniformed women.

         12                 For instance, the City left the

         13  promotional list for supervising fire marshal expire

         14  with two women on that list only two and four names

         15  away from being reached.

         16                 These women would have been the first

         17  to reach a supervising fire marshal rank. To make

         18  matters worse, the City promoted men on that list

         19  over quota, thereby delaying the promotion of women

         20  on the next list. When you are talking about the one

         21  and three rule, you have to also keep in mind that

         22  the Fire Commissioner has some discretion to promote

         23  over quota on promotional lists, which means that he

         24  can extend the list slightly, reaching down further

         25  than he otherwise might have before the list
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          2  expired. Keep that in mind.

          3                 Similarly, in the cases of both the

          4  First Lieutenants list that women were on, and the

          5  first Captains' list, the City promoted men to those

          6  ranks off of the old list over quota, so that the

          7  promotions off the new lists for these ranks, the

          8  first list that women were on were delayed.

          9                 These actions by the City have had an

         10  adverse impact on women's promotional opportunities

         11  within the FDNY and indicate the lack of

         12  consideration of promotional opportunities for women

         13  within the Fire Department.

         14                 We do have some recommendations to

         15  improve the opportunities for women within the New

         16  York City Fire Department. We offer the following:

         17                 1) Redirect the FDNY's recruitment

         18  effort. Council Member Marshall talked about where

         19  does the money go. A lot of money, as was pointed

         20  out by the Hispanic Society, was dumped at the end

         21  of the recruitment campaign into an ad campaign.

         22                 We find that these relatively

         23  expensive and relatively unproductive advertising

         24  campaigns, we could be putting that money into

         25  programs that have better outcomes.
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          2                 We suggest that you have a permanent

          3  recruitment unit and not just one that gears up a

          4  couple of months before the filing opens,

          5  particularly when you only put six people in it.

          6                 We recommend that you increase the

          7  regular firefighting hiring opportunities through a

          8  permanent FDNY Cadet Program, and give a promotional

          9  exam to the firefighter for the cadets every year,

         10  that we set goals to substantially increase the

         11  number of women in every cadet class. It has been

         12  under ten percent. We think that the Fire Department

         13  can do much, much better than that in terms of

         14  putting women in the Cadet Program.

         15                 The Cadet Program, in our opinion,

         16  offers one of the best opportunities for hiring

         17  excellent women and minority firefighter recruits on

         18  a consistent basis.

         19                 The current uncertainty of whether

         20  the Cadet Program will be renewed makes it difficult

         21  to recruit people to the program. In addition, women

         22  have been woefully underrepresented in the Cadet

         23  Program in the past.

         24                 We recommend, number three, that the

         25  City revive the New York City women and the
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          2  uniformed task force. In the mid-1980s, there were

          3  representatives of the uniformed women organizations

          4  and upper management from police, fire, corrections

          5  and Sanitation that met to discuss common concerns

          6  regarding the recruitment, hiring, training and

          7  promotion of women in their agencies. It is time to

          8  revive that group in order to share successful

          9  strategies and to avoid wasteful mistakes.

         10                 We also recommend that the City

         11  provide funding for a women candidate training

         12  program.

         13                 Now, the Commissioner mentioned a

         14  couple of times that we have an ongoing program

         15  right now at John Jay. Let me point out, that is

         16  privately funded. The main stumbling block to women

         17  being hired as New York City firefighters is the

         18  rank ordered physical abilities entry exam.

         19                 I have to take issue a little bit

         20  with what Paul Washington said, because, in our

         21  opinion, the weight of the physical exam outweighs

         22  the weight of the written, in terms of hiring of

         23  firefighters.

         24                 When you look at the physical exam,

         25  there are eight sub tests, you have to pass each and
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          2  every sub test to get a perfect score of 100. If you

          3  are even one second too slow on any of those eight

          4  sub tests your score drops not to 99, not to 95, but

          5  to 87 and a half, which means that you have almost

          6  no chance whatsoever of being hired as a

          7  firefighter. So, if you are one second too slow on

          8  any one of eight sub tests, your score drops from

          9  100 to 87 and a half. So for that reason we would

         10  say that the physical far outweighs the written in

         11  terms of dramatic impact on your hiring place.

         12                 We would say that experience on the

         13  past three tests has shown that women have no chance

         14  or scoring high enough to be hired, if we don't

         15  offer this pre-training program.

         16                 For example, the 16 women who scored

         17  95 and above, that was a different scoring system.

         18  On the 88 fire test, 15 had attended this privately

         19  funded women's training program. All four of the

         20  women who have been hired as firefighters since 1982

         21  have attended this privately funded women's training

         22  program. Such training programs are particularly

         23  important to encourage and sustain interest in the

         24  job among low income women. Relying on public

         25  funding for such programs puts the continuation of
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          2  such training in constant jeopardy.

          3                 The City needs to make a commitment

          4  in providing these opportunities for young men.

          5  Under-represented groups such as women, need extra

          6  encouragement to maintain their commitment

          7  throughout the hiring process. Since women

          8  candidates drop out of the hiring process at two

          9  times the rate of white men, support and

         10  encouragement must be provided to women candidates

         11  over a period of years.

         12                 The current privately funded women's

         13  training program demonstrates that there is enormous

         14  potential of hiring dedicated and highly qualified

         15  women firefighters. The women candidates attend this

         16  training three times a week, unpaid, on their own

         17  time, with no child care available, having to make

         18  all kinds of family arrangements and schedule

         19  arrangements.

         20                 More than 50 percent of the women who

         21  are attending this program are women of color,

         22  including a very large number of Latinos. Many of

         23  these women are low income and some are single

         24  mothers. The firefighter job offers these women a

         25  rewarding career at a decent wage and allows them to
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          2  support themselves and their family. The City needs

          3  to expand and provide financial support for this

          4  kind of program.

          5                 The other thing I wanted to mention

          6  is the overwhelming majority of women who are

          7  attending this program are City residents.

          8                 Finally, we would ask that the City

          9  Council, along with our brother organizations over

         10  here, that you provide real oversight of the

         11  recruitment, hiring, training and promotion efforts

         12  for minorities and women in the Fire Department.

         13                 Women firefighters have been risking

         14  their lives for the good of the people for this City

         15  for almost 20 years. And for 20 years we have been

         16  trying to get people to understand the difficulties

         17  we face in helping other women pursue this calling

         18  that we love so much.

         19                 The Fire Department, the Mayor, you

         20  the City Council and all of the branches of

         21  government, have a responsibility to ensure that

         22  opportunities in the FDNY are open and equal. We

         23  would urge the City Council to closely examine all

         24  Fire Department hiring and promotional requirements

         25  proposed by DCAS and the Fire Department to
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          2  determine whether such requirements would have a

          3  positive or negative affect on the hiring and

          4  promotion of women. And on that note I agree with

          5  Paul Washington that there may be some hidden

          6  problems with these frequent exams, because if you

          7  look at the number of women and minorities in the

          8  very top of the list, you will find that they are

          9  not there. So, if you give an exam even more

         10  frequently, the question is what impact will that

         11  have on the hiring of women and minorities.

         12                 I am not so sure the Fire Department

         13  has examined that impact, and I would urge you to.

         14                 We would also urge that the City

         15  Council act now to ensure that the Fire Department

         16  has the budget and personnel to carry out an

         17  expanded recruitment and training program for women

         18  candidates and cadets. You and your staff need to

         19  identify young women from your districts for the

         20  FDNY Cadet Program. If each Council member referred

         21  ten women to the Cadet Program, we could

         22  dramatically expand the representation of women in

         23  that program.

         24                 Those of us who were among the first

         25  group of women hired as FDNY firefighters are
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          2  dismayed that all of the hard work that we did to

          3  try to make the FDNY an opportunity for women may

          4  disappear when we retire.

          5                 I thank you very much for

          6  consideration of this testimony. If I might just say

          7  one more thing. Everyone here that has testified as

          8  talked about the importance of mentoring and having

          9  role models out there to show young women in the

         10  schools, to show people of color that they have a

         11  real opportunity in this Fire Department. And I ask

         12  you, who is going to be there to mentor the young

         13  women and people of color when our numbers have been

         14  dropped in the case of the women one-tenth, let's

         15  say we have four women left for the entire City,

         16  that is not even one woman per borough to mentor,

         17  what are you asking of us?

         18                 And as far as blacks and Hispanics,

         19  when their numbers drop, who is going to be there to

         20  mentor? Who are the kids going to see riding around

         21  in the fire trucks? Who are they going to see as

         22  their role models? That is why I am saying to you,

         23  and why my brothers are saying to you today, this is

         24  a crisis situation we are facing. We need your help.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Thank you very
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          2  much for your testimony, it was very enlightening.

          3  We have questions from Council Member Marshall.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I am very

          5  proud to say that the women who brought that suit

          6  against the Fire Department were those from my

          7  community who were trained by Chief Goldstein and

          8  who passed the written test fantastically. One girl

          9  lost a tremendous amount of weight. She took

         10  exercise classes and so on to bring her weight down.

         11  In the end, actually they just sued the Department

         12  because it wasn't working, it didn't work for them.

         13                 MS. BERKMAN: Council Member Marshall,

         14  I sued the Department.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: By yourself?

         16                 MS. BERKMAN: Correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: These women

         18  also --

         19                 MS. BERKMAN: After I won my lawsuit,

         20  Council member.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Well, these

         22  three women not only sued the Department, but they

         23  won. They --

         24                 MS. BERKMAN: Oh, they were fired from

         25  the training academy, that's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes. They

          3  won their case.

          4                 MS. BERKMAN: They were hired as a

          5  result of my lawsuit.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Okay. Well,

          7  I want to congratulate you.

          8                 MS. BERKMAN: I am rather intimately

          9  acquainted with the who legal background.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: You sure

         11  are. And I appreciate your testimony. I know we all

         12  appreciate your testimony. As I stated earlier, we

         13  need to do a lot more about women being in the

         14  Department and if we improve the system, we will get

         15  a good system. Just like I was talking about the

         16  CUNY Cadets, when you look at them you see women of

         17  all different nationalities, you see men of all

         18  different nationalities, and they are all City

         19  residents, as you pointed out. So, if we do the job

         20  right, and you do have to work a little harder with

         21  women because they really don't see themselves as

         22  firefighters, but young women of today are a lot

         23  different. They have broader minds and of course

         24  they have been role models such as yourself that

         25  said, hey, we can do it too.
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          2                 MS. BERKMAN: They are also realistic.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Very.

          4                 MS. BERKMAN: And when you look at

          5  young women who are looking at Civil Service exams,

          6  they will take the police exam, they will take the

          7  corrections exam, they will even take the sanitation

          8  exam, because they see there is a real opportunity

          9  there to be hired.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Not in

         11  sanitation.

         12                 MS. BERKMAN: But then they look at

         13  the numbers in the New York City Fire Department and

         14  they realize that they may have to wait seven years

         15  to even have any shot at all at being hired. So,

         16  they are being realistic. We are trying our best but

         17  we have to overcome those unfortunate sad statistics

         18  that we are faced with.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes. Thank

         20  you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Can I just

         22  ask one question?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 You testified that there was a list

          3  which two women were coming up soon for promotion?

          4                 MS. BERKMAN: That list has been

          5  allowed to expire.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: What list

          7  was that?

          8                 MS. BERKMAN: Supervising fire

          9  marshal.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: And how far

         11  down were the women on that list?

         12                 MS. BERKMAN: One was the second

         13  person left, and the other one was two names away

         14  from her. So they were spots two and four.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Do you know

         16  how many people they took from that list from

         17  beginning to end?

         18                 MS. BERKMAN: I am sorry, I don't. It

         19  was really a last minute thing, and as I mentioned

         20  in my testimony, the City promoted over quota, but

         21  they chose not to promote enough over quota in order

         22  to reach the two women left on the list.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Maybe that

         24  was what Council Member Perkins was talking about,

         25  to look at a list and use discretion and use some
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          2  kind of judgment.

          3                 When did this happen, by the way?

          4                 MS. BERKMAN: Last Monday.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you.

          6                 MS. BERKMAN: Not yesterday, I am

          7  sorry, but the previous Monday.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: Are there any

          9  other questions?

         10                 Lieutenant, we want to thank you very

         11  much for making your presentation.

         12                 MS. BERKMAN: Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WARDEN: As we want to

         14  thank all of the witnesses. You filled our plate,

         15  there is a lot that has to be done.

         16                 We will ride just like bulldogs,

         17  because as you put it so succinctly, there is a

         18  major problem, we are in a crisis.

         19                 So, if you hear from us for

         20  additional technical assistance through the staff,

         21  please give us a hand, because you are the guys that

         22  know the field. You are working in the field and you

         23  are out there each and every day, and we are trying

         24  to get the best from what we can do to try to deal

         25  with the problem that is very real, and it is a
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          2  problem that we would like to see solved.

          3                 This hearing is adjourned.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 5:00 p.m.)
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